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Partnership

Adaptability

Commitment

Thank you 

Aidlink relies on the kindness and generosity of our donors to continue our work. 
We are extremely grateful to each and every person who gave up their time and support 
to Aidlink. With Covid-19 restrictions inhibiting our established fundraising activities your 

adaptability and commitment to Aidlink by virtual means is hugely appreciated.  

Thank you! Asanta Sana! Ashe Oleng! 
Alakara Noi! Webale Nyo! Go Raibh Míle Maith Agaibh!
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRPERSON

Aidlink’s Partnership Model since we 
started, nearly 40 years ago, our programmes 
have been led by local needs and delivered 
by locally based NGOs, our focus has been 
on building our partners’ capacity and 
building advocates in the community to 
advocate for the community. We focus our 
work on communities who are in great 
need and on empowering communities, in 
particular women and girls, to lead their own 
development. 

Our partnership model served us very well in 
helping Aidlink be agile and adaptive during 
the pandemic and lockdown in 2020. Just 
as in Ireland, African schools closed down 
in response to the pandemic meaning our 
programmes could no longer be delivered 
through schools. But thanks to our deep 
relationships with our partners on the 
ground, and the trust built up with Irish Aid 
and our other donors, Aidlink could assess 
the changing needs of communities and 
quickly agree new solutions. This included 
the roll-out of community education and 
Covid-19 awareness training, the installation 
of hand washing stations as well as 
distribution of household food for those who 
previously depended on school meals.

But of course, Aidlink impacts people’s 
lives here in Ireland too, primarily through 

our development education programmes 
which bring students from Irish secondary 
schools to Africa for an ‘immersion’ 
cultural experience in local schools and 
communities. Some of those students tell 
us that this experience is a transformative 
one for them, broadening their horizons 
and positively impacting their world view. It 
was a tremendous disappointment that we 
were unable to deliver most of our planned 
programmes to the schools in 2020 
and 2021.

This time last year, things were very 
challenging given the loss of many of our 
usual fundraising events. We asked the 
wider Aidlink community for help and were 
very humbled by the immensely generous 
response from our Irish partner schools, 
our donors, our members and individual 
friends. While meeting our mission will 
always be challenging, your support gives 
the organisation the energy to keep making 
a difference and keep improving what 
we do.

Aidlink has worked very hard to adopt high 
standards in its operations for many years, 
what’s known as ‘Good Governance’. Aidlink 
believes that this is simply the best and most 
efficient way to run our organisation, and 
we aspire to have standards in the upper 

As we look back on 2020 in this annual report, 
from the vantage point of mid-2021, we can do so 
with some pride at what’s been achieved and have 
confidence for the future. That was not the case 
this time last year, but our renewed hope is due to 
a number of critical factors outlined below.
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echelon of similar organisations. This year, 
the Charities Regulator requires charities to 
report on their compliance to its new code. It 
was gratifying to me that well over half of the 
Aidlink Board and staff attended three nights 
training on complying with the code. We 
then formed a subcommittee of the Board 
to identify what we needed to do to comply 
and to report back to the main Board. With 
this level of effort and focus on best practice, 
I believe we will continue to improve our 
standards.

We are very encouraged by, and grateful 
for, the recent announcement from Irish 
Aid that Aidlink has secured three-year total 
funding of €1.14M for our project in Kenya, 
partnered with the UNESCO award winning 
Girl Child Network. This is a 23% increase on 
the previous Irish Aid funding level and we 
believe is testament to:

• Aidlink’s vision which aligns with many 
government policy objectives.

• Our strong partnership model.
• Our track record of delivering long-lasting 

change.
• Our standards of governance.

One thing that the global pandemic 
has reminded us, is that we are one 
human family, highly interconnected and 
interdependent. The need for an organisation 
like Aidlink has never been greater, and I 
wish to express my personal thanks to all 
those who’ve given so much time and effort 
this year.

John Lynch
Aidlink Chairperson 

Peris Mootain, Girl Child Network and Anne Cleary, Aidlink with Rights of the Child Club 
patron, Kabulokor Primary School, Turkana, Kenya (February 2020).
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Photo credit: GCN

40% increase in 
teenage pregnancies 

in Kenya since the onset Covid-19 
and subsequent school closures

Source: Global Citizen, August 2020
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For almost forty years Aidlink has worked to 
improve the lives of the most vulnerable and 
excluded, creating a longterm impact in the 
communities that we reach.

We are committed to making a lasting effect 
on the lives of girls, both in their day-to-day 
lives and in their position in society, while at 
the same time, working to build livelihoods 
and improve community well-being.

WHO WE ARE

Our programmes aim to deliver 
sustainable change. By listening to the 
voices of the community and through 
our partnerships we work to address 
the structural causes of inequality and 
poverty. We believe that by putting the 
furthest behind first – often girls – we 
can support entire communities’ growth.

Aidlink is a development organisation, founded in 1982 in Dublin. 
We strive to achieve gender equality and end poverty in Africa, 
while also raising awareness of global inequality in Ireland.

Anne Cleary, Aidlink and Peris Mootain, Girl Child Network
Oloitiko Primary School, Kajiado, Kenya (February 2020).
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HOW WE WORK
Aidlink works with local partners to support 
communities in Kenya and Uganda, with a 
focus on gender equality, education, and 
sustainable livelihoods. Aidlink empowers 
communities to take greater control over 
their lives and livelihoods. Our teams are on 
the ground, supporting the world’s poorest 
people and increasing the resilience of the 
marginalised.

Aidlink works collaboratively, both at home 
and abroad, to ensure lasting change for 
the people that we serve. We believe in 
grassroots solutions.

We partner with Civil Society Organisations 
in our programme countries to improve 
the lives of girls and their families. Through 
our work with local groups, we harness 
local knowledge and resources to support 
communities and encourage local ownership 
over projects to guarantee sustainability. 
Together we ensure communities are heard 
and that solutions support families to take 
greater control over their lives.

• We support gender equality by improving 
access to education for girls, and by 
strengthening health and human rights 
education among civil society groups.

• We support livelihoods by providing 
communities with the resources, skills, 
and knowledge that they need to thrive.

• We support families during an emergency 
by delivering life-saving protective 
equipment, food and water and through 
providing access to information.

For almost 40 years, Aidlink has worked 
through partnership, forging relationships 
with local organisations and building their 
capacity to become development leaders.

While we did not have active projects with 
all partners this year, Aidlink maintained 
engagement with all longstanding partners 
including Caritas MADDO, Caritas Lodwar 
and The Congregation of the Holy Spirit 
Ghana. Frequent communication helped 
in monitoring the wider impact of Covid-19 
locally.  

Girl Child Network (GCN)
GCN is a Child’s Rights organisation 
working to improve the lives of all children, 
with a special focus on the rights of girls. 
Aidlink and GCN have worked together 
on education and girls’ empowerment 
programmes in Kajiado and Turkana 
Counties, Kenya since 2003.

Voluntary Action for Development (VAD)
VAD is a non-profit, civil society organisation 
working to improve the lives of those living 
in poverty in Uganda. VAD and Aidlink have 
successfully worked together on water, 
sanitation and agriculture programmes 
since 2003.

Amani Kibera
Amani Kibera is a youth-led, community-
based organisation that has worked in the 
Kibera informal settlements since 2007. 
The organisation focuses on social justice 
through mobilising and organising youth 
participation in peace building, conflict 
management, and health awareness.



WHERE WE WORK

Kajiado & Turkana 
KENYA

Karamoja
UGANDA

Kenya was the focus of Aidlink operations 
in 2020 with 78% of programme funding 
directed to the Kenya Inclusive Quality 
Education Project in partnership with 
our key partner the Girl Child Network - 
targeting children, particularly girls, from 
the nomadic pastoralist Masai Community 
in Kajiado and the Turkana in Turkana. 

Projects in Uganda, target the Karamajong 
community in Karamoja. 
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WHAT WE DO

Africa 

Gender Equality
Aidlink and our partners are 

working to address the barriers 

that keep girls from attending 

school and flourishing in society. 

We are working to promote gender 

sensitivity and further rights- 

based education in communities. 

Students and teachers are trained 

to support a learning environment; 

communities are sensitised on the 

harm of cultural practices like early 

marriage and FGM. Through 

our community volunteers, we 

are working to identify out-of-

school children – particularly girls 

and children with disabilities – 

and support them to enrol back 

in school.

Education
Aidlink works to provide 

better education and increase 

enrolment and retention in 

schools. There are a number of 

different reasons why children 

are not in school and we work to 

remove some of those obstacles.  

We provide access to water 

on school grounds or within 

walking distance so that thirst, 

or the work required to fetch 

water, does not keep children 

from school. We build inclusive 

bathrooms with disability access 

and handwashing facilities, as 

well as changing rooms, and 

supply sanitary pads. We provide 

school meals to thousands of 

children, so that hunger is not a 

reason to miss class. We establish 

clubs that teach children 

about their rights and sensitise 

communities on the value of 

education, and the harm of 

traditional cultural practices.

Livelihoods
Aidlink works to support 

families to develop sustainable 

agricultural practices. We work 

with pastoral communities who 

are smallholder farming families 

to ensure that they have the 

knowledge to produce and use 

plants for food, fuel and land 

restoration. We deliver training 

on business management, 

nutrition and finance, 

as well as other skills key to 

sustainable agriculture.
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Emergencies
Aidlink’s key strength is our 

partnership approach; the 

longstanding relationships and 

trust we have built with local 

NGOs and communities. In times 

of crises, our partner NGOs are on 

the ground ready to respond to 

the needs of the communities we 

serve. Through drought, floods 

or political strife we provide a 

range of supports to affected 

communities; food, clean drinking 

water, sanitation, basic health 

materials and access to critical 

information. Throughout the 

Covid-19 pandemic, Aidlink and our 

partners have continued this work, 

delivering critical interventions to 

reach the most vulnerable. 

Ireland
Schools
Aidlink has operated a unique 

development education 

immersion programme since 

2004. We provide an opportunity 

for students from Irish secondary 

schools to attend school in Aidlink 

partner countries, experiencing 

the culture, traditions and society, 

as well as the challenges, of 

communities in the Global South.

Our immersion programme 

enriches the lives of participating 

students and contributes to 

building a socially conscious 

constituency of young people 

who are committed to the 

principles of social justice and 

who are attuned to the issues of 

international development.

Volunteers
Aidlink is committed to 

advancing girls’ rights and 

ending poverty in Africa. We 

believe education is one way 

to do that. Our volunteers raise 

awareness of global issues when 

they fundraise for an immersion 

programme or organise for one of 

our events. They bring home the 

adage, ‘think global, act local’.

We are incredibly proud of our 

volunteers and the work they do 

for the most vulnerable in Africa. 

Thank you.

What We Do
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2020 HIGHLIGHTS

6,807 children 
and their families 

supported in Kenya

16 schools  
rank ‘satisfactory’ 

or above on UNICEF’s 
Child-Friendly School 

Monitoring Tool in Kenya

640 students 
trained in child rights, health, 
and hygiene and sanitation

192 teachers 
and Board of 
Management 

members 
trained on gender 

and disability-sensitive 
schooling

7 water tanks 
installed in target schools

in Kenya  

32 community 
facilitators 

were trained in and led 
community conversations

in Kenya

12,539 people
participated in 

Community 
Conversations

14 girl and 
disability-friendly 

latrines 
constructed in target 

schools in Kenya

2 semi-permanent 
classroom blocks 
constructed in Uganda

1,350 children 
and their families 

supported in Uganda

3 boreholes 
drilled in Uganda
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Mercy Musomi, CEO of the Girl Child Network Kenya, winners of the 
2020 UNESCO Prize for Girls’ and Women’s Education. The Prize 

honours the outstanding contributions of individuals, institutions 
and organisations engaged in girls’ and women’s education and 

showcases successful projects promoting best practices in this area. 
Since 2003 Aidlink has partnered with the Girl Child Network 

and together we are proud to champion girls' education among the 
Masai and Turkana people in Kenya. 

2020 Highlights

Mercy Musomi, CEO Girl Child Network
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810 million learners in 
low-income countries 

were out of school 
at the peak of Covid-19 related closures

Source: UNFPA, April 2020

Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit: GCN
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INCOME & EXPENDITURE

Irish Aid  €310,000

Foundations, Trusts & Corporations €148,447

Immersion Schools €76,948

Fundraising  €73,329

18%
Increase in Foundations, Trusts 
& Corporations income on 2019

€608,724 total income

€579,723 total expenditure

Development Programmes  €474,902

 • Kenya   €434,261
 • Uganda  €40,641

Development Education €80,926

Raising Funds €23,895

Reduction in immersion activity 
and programme activity in Uganda

19%
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COVID-19 RESPONSE

Jan 2020 Dec 2020

Planned activities Adaptation
due to Covid-19

Achieved

KENYA
▶ 14 gender and disability-friendly 

latrines

▶ 7 water tanks

▶ School feeding in 16 schools

▶ Board of Management & teachers 
trained

▶ Rights of the Child (RoC) clubs 
established and trained in 16 schools

▶ 2 community farms

▶ 32 Community facilitators identified 
and trained

▶ Community converstions in 16 
communities

▶ 1 Partner meeting

▶ No adaption necessary

▶ No adaption necessary

▶ School food distributed to 
families at a household level

▶ Board of Management & 
Teachers engaged in distribution 
activities

▶ No adaption necessary

▶ Postponed until first quarter 2021

▶ Community facilitators equipped 
and role expanded to include 
health education and Covid-19 
surveillance

▶ Temporarily paused

▶ Cancelled with funds redirected 
to Covid-19 response

▶ 14 gender and disability-friendly 
latrines installed

▶ 7 water tanks installed

▶ 939 households received food for 
3 months

▶ Board of Management & 
teachers trained

▶ RoC clubs established and 
trained in 16 schools

▶ 32 Community facilitators 
identified and trained to 
promote education, child 
safeguarding, health education 
and Covid-19 surveillance

▶ 12,539 Community members 
participated in Community 
conversations across 16 
communities

Risk Management 

Aidlink applies a comprehensive risk-based approach to managing our programmes, this, along with our 

long-standing relationships with partners and communities, allowed us to adapt quickly to the challenges 

and rapidly changing needs presented by the Covid-19 crisis.
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May 2020 Dec 2020

New activities
due to Covid-19

Achieved Cumulative Results 
2018-2021 Kenya

KENYA

UGANDA

▶ Distribution of PPE to health 
centres

▶ Instillation of handwashing 
stations

▶ Distribution of menstrual 
hygiene pack containing sanitary 
pads and underwear

▶ Care package for pregnant 
teens and lactating mothers 
introduced in 33 public primary 
schools

▶ Public health information 
disseminated

▶ Instillation of handwashing 
stations in Kibera

▶ Instillation of handwashing 
stations

▶ Public health information 
dissemination

▶ PPE distributed to 3 health 
centres and 24 dispensaries 

▶ Handwashing stations in 32 
public primary schools

▶ Menstrual hygiene pack received 
by 1,650 girls 

▶ Carer appointed and food 
distributed in 33 schools

▶ Radio messaging reached over 
30,000 people across 4 counties 
(Turkana, Kajiado, Narok, Samburu)

▶ Handwashing stations installed 
in 8 communities

▶ Handwashing stations installed 
in 25 communities Karamoja

▶ Community based public health 
information disseminated to 25 
communities

Covid-19 Response

Over 16,500 
students 

supported

78% re-enroled 
first term 2021

42 gender and 
disability-friendly 

latrine blocks 
constructed

Active in 
49 schools
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COUNTRY PROFILE
KENYA

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
threatens recent economic development 
in Kenya, decimating the livelihoods of the 
poorest communities. 
In 2015, Kenya was upgraded to a ‘lower-middle-income’ 
country reflecting positive economic developments over the 
past decade.  But the emergence of the Covid-19 crisis has 
deeply impacted the economy. The pandemic has increased 
poverty by four percentage points, equating to an additional 
2 million people living in poverty, with sharp decreases in 
incomes and employment, increased food insecurity and 
elevated pain and human suffering. 

In Kenya, Aidlink’s work focuses on nomadic pastoralist 
communities in two arid and semi-arid counties where most 
of Kenya’s poor live – Turkana and Kajiado. In both counties, 
a sizeable proportion of people lack access to basic essential 
services such as water, education, and health. 

As nomadic pastoralists, the Turkana and Masai rely heavily on 
their animals, travelling great distances with them in search 
of water and pasture. In recent years, these communities have 
been subject to the devastating impacts of climate change. In 
Turkana County, drought used to occur every 10-15 years, now 
it is more common, happening every 2-3 years. 

2020 was a particularly challenging year for the Turkana and 
Masai. The existing challenge of prolonged drought and the 
worst locust infestation in over 70 years were compounded by 
the Covid-19 pandemic and government enforced restrictions. 
Together, these events have decimated people’s food security 
and livelihoods. 

The intersection between gender and the pandemic 
is particularly relevant among the Masai and Turkana 
communities. Both are patriarchal, polygamist societies, with 
women and girls limited to domestic roles and denied ownership 
of livestock and property. Lockdown poverty has forced many 
desperate families to marry off under-age daughters to ease 
expenses, with increasing numbers of girls undergoing FGM as 
communities return to traditional customs. 

€445,993

20202019

€434,261

Total spend 
delivering programmes 

to some of the most 
vulnerable people in Kenya

44.5% 
of people helped

 were women

6,807 children 
and their families 

helped
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In these communities it is the responsibility of girls to fetch 
water. In times of drought, the distances girls walk for water 
can reach up to 18km. Throughout the Covid-19 crisis, this 
travel, coupled with school closures has placed girls at a 
much higher risk of Gender-based Violence (GBV) and sexual 
assault. 152,000 Kenyan teenage girls became pregnant over 
a three-month period during lockdown. This represents a 40% 
increase on the country's average. 

Country Profile Kenya

Covid Context 2020 Ireland Kenya

Population 2020 4.9 million 54.9 million

Health

Number of ventilators 1,800 256

Number of ICU beds 400 537

% of population with at least 
one dose of vaccine
(June 2021)

61% 2%

Restrictions

Number of weeks schools closed 26 37

40% increase
in teenage pregnancies 

Over 17 million 
children

in Kenya were out of school 
for up to 9 months due to 

Covid-19
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COUNTRY PROFILE
UGANDA

For the Karamojong community of northern 
Uganda, the Covid-19 crisis has caused 
immediate and serious impacts, including 
an emerging food security crisis.  
The mainly rural population of Karamoja are traditionally 
nomadic pastoralists who depend on livestock and crop 
production for survival. Since 2010, following a large-scale 
government disarmament programme, Karamoja has 
experienced a period of relative security. Livestock herding 
recovered and active livestock markets were developed. 
Despite these positive developments, the people of Karamoja 
continued to report the worst human development and 
nutrition indicators in Uganda.

The Covid-19 crisis and public health restrictions have 
exacerbated the challenges already faced by this vulnerable 
community. With market closures, restricted travel and 
rising costs, families have reduced access to food and child 
malnutrition is on the rise. 

As in Kenya, school closures have resulted in children being at 
home for prolonged periods, increasing the cost of household 
feeding and exposing girls to the risk of GBV. Pressures on 
income and food security increase the likelihood of girls being 
married off for a dowry, and never returning to school. 

The pandemic has also led to increases in livestock theft and 
raids. Among the key contributing factors are:

• A reduced presence of security personnel because of their 
involvement in Covid-19 response activities.

• Public health restrictions that have prevented communities 
from recovering stolen livestock. 

• The disruptive impacts of lockdown on livelihoods and 
incomes. 

National elections in early 2021 were marred by violence 
and contributed to the delay in reopening schools. A phased 
reopening of schools commenced in March 2021, although 
thousands of girls will not return to school having become 
pregnant or been married off in the intervening period.

€85,875

20202019

€40,641 

Total spend 
delivering programmes to 

some of the most vulnerable 
people in Uganda

51% 
of people helped 

were women

1,350 people 
helped in 2020
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Country Profile Uganda

Covid Context 2020 Ireland Uganda

Population 2020 4.9 million 47.2 million

Health

Number of ventilators 1,800 55

Number of ICU beds 400 75

% of population with at least 
one dose of vaccine
(June 2021)

61% 2%

Restrictions

Number of weeks schools closed 26 55

Over 15 million 
children

were out of school for 
more than 12 months 

due to Covid-19

Handwashing station, Karamoja, Uganda. Photo credit: VAD
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Gender and disability-friendly latrine block, Oloitiko Primary School, Kajiado, Kenya. Photo credit: GCN

PROGRAMME OVERVIEW
In 2020, Aidlink programmes reached approximately 40,800 of the 
world’s poorest and most vulnerable people.  We spent €474,902 
to deliver life-changing programmes that educate, empower, and 
enable communities.

In 2020, Aidlink implemented the Inclusive 
Quality Education project in 16 public 
primary schools in Kenya. Despite Covid-19 
restrictions our partner in Kenya, the Girl 
Child Network, carried out core programme 
activities adjusting quickly, where necessary, 
responding to the immediate needs of target 
communities. Adjustments included the 
transfer of school feeding to households 
and the distribution of sanitary towels and 
underwear to vulnerable girls at home. 
In addition to the targeted 16 new school 
communities, we provided support to the 17 
school communities supported in 2019.    

School closures not only interrupted 
learning but required adjustments in 
practice. Community facilitators played a 
vital role in maintaining connectivity with 

communities throughout 2020 through 
the ‘Community Conversations’ initiative.  
Community facilitators are members of the 
community who are trained to work within 
their own community to challenge negative 
social norms and practices that exclude 
or discriminate against girls and children 
with disabilities. They call and facilitate 
monthly Community Conversations, leading 
discussions on child rights, education and 
identifying local solutions to local issues. They 
are also trained on Gender and Disability 
Social Audit and Social Accountability tools in 
order to amplify citizen voices and hold the 
government to account. In 2020 Community 
Facilitators took on additional duties 
including the dissemination of public health 
information on Covid-19.  
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Programme Overview – Gender Equality

Gender Equality 
In 2020, Aidlink supported 16 schools to 
become more child-friendly and gender-
sensitive, reaching 6,807 vulnerable children 
and their families in Kajiado and Turkana.

Gender-sensitive and disability friendly 
latrines were constructed in 14 schools (6 
in Turkana, 8 in Kajiado). Water tanks were 
installed in 7 of these schools (4 in Turkana 
and 3 in Kajiado). Schools that have water 
and sanitation facilities encourage children 
to attend. These basic facilities incentivise 
attending school, particularly for girls, as 
evidenced by a 78% reenrolment in January 
2021 after 9 months of school closures, 
including 53 pregnant girls and teen mothers.  

16 Rights of the Child Clubs (8 in Turkana 
and 8 in Kajiado) were established in 2020, 
with 640 children joining and receiving 
training on child rights, with protection 

and gender equality as key components of 
these lessons. Having knowledge of child 
rights enables children to recognize harmful 
cultural practices, such as early marriage and 
Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), and to be 
empowered to combat them. 

Reports of increased GBV and a 40% increase 
in teenage pregnancies during the period of 
school closures raised concerns that these 
young girls would never return to school. The 
impact of ROC clubs was evident in January 
2021 when 78% of children re-enrolled in 
target schools including pregnant girls and 
teen mothers. 

A targeted care package, including childcare 
and supplementary food for pregnant 
and young mothers, and their babies, was 
introduced across all 33 schools as part of the 
Kenya inclusive Quality Education project 
2018-2020. 

16 new Schools included in the programme 
in 2020 with some supports to the 17 schools 
reached in 2019 – a total of 33 school communities 
supported.
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Programme Overview – Education

continued to champion child protection, 
reporting cases of FGM and 
early marriages, intervening at family level 
to advocate for the child’s rights.  

When schools reopened in January 2021, 
the community facilitators and the BoM held 
door to door campaign called ‘Twende shule’ 
– ‘let’s go to school’. This resulted in 78% of the 
learners returning to school including 53 young 
mothers, leaving an estimated 1,935 children 
who have yet to report to school. Community 
facilitators remain active in communities 
to ensure every child reports back to school.

The Covid-19 pandemic is having a 
disproportionate impact on children with 
disabilities who already experience social 
and educational disadvantage. When schools 
reopened in January 2021, only 12 of the 29 
children with disabilities identified in 2019 
re-enrolled in school. 5 (3 boys and 2 girls) in 
Loima Sub County Turkana and 7 (5 boys and 2 
girls) in Mashuru sub county Kajiado.  The Girl 
Child Network is engaging with community 
leaders and teachers to trace and re-enrol the 
remaining 17 learners in school. 

The Educational Assessment Research Center 
(EARC) Mashuru sub county, Kajiado identified 
a further 47 children with disabilities who have 
yet to enroll in school. With no EARC centre in 
Loima, Turkana children with disabilities remain 
hidden. Aidlink and The Girl Child Network 
plan to support the opening of a new facility in 
Turkana that will support the identification of 
children with disabilities in the area. 
  

Education
Aidlink worked with 16 new schools in Kenya with 
a total enrolment of 6,807 children (3,211 girls and 
3,596 boys) all of which now rank ‘Satisfactory’ 
or above on UNICEF’s Child-Friendly School 
Monitoring Tool. In Uganda, Aidlink supported 3 
schools (792 children) to improve access to clean, 
safe water through the drilling of boreholes. 

We trained 192 Board of Management (BoM) 
members and teachers in Kenya, on policies 
and legal frameworks, and assisted 16 schools in 
developing child-centred School Development 
Plans. 50 Board of Management members 
(27 men and 23 women) from target schools 
participated in a bi-annual forum to encourage 
and enhance cross learning and improve the 
sustainability of the project activities. 

Community Conversations are a tool that seek 
to empower communities to identify, address 
and find homegrown solutions to issues they 
regularly face. While temporarily paused due to 
government restrictions, once re-established 
12,539 community members participated in 
these conversations, where they were provided 
with vital public-health information as well as 
training on the importance of education and 
the dangers of harmful cultural practices like FGM 
and early marriage – critical during the period of 
school closures. 

In 2020, 32 new Community Facilitators (16 
Turkana, 16 Kajiado) were trained. In addition to 
their routine role challenging the communities’ 
negative cultural norms they also took on a 
community health monitoring role as they 

Aidlink worked with 16 new schools in 2020 in 
Kenya, all of which now rank ‘Satisfactory’ or above 
on UNICEF's Child-Friendly School Monitoring Tool. 

12,539 community members in Turkana and Kajiado 
participated in monthly community conversations, 
a 56% increase on 2019.  
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Programme Overview – Education 
Sarah’s Story

‘I scored 339 marks’ 
Sarah shouts in 
jubilation when 
breaking the news 
to her family. Sarah 
is a 16 year old 
girl who sat her 
Kenya Certificate of 
Primary Education 
(KCPE) at Emashini 
primary in Kajiado 
County, Kenya, 
one of the project 
schools. She is now 
waiting to join 
secondary school in 
July 2021. 

As 2020 began, like her friends, was happy to finally be in a 
transition class and looking forward to working hard, performing 
well, and transiting to secondary school. Her dream since grade 
5 has been to be a doctor. Only three months into the school 
calendar, the Government closed all learning institutions in the 
Country as a strategy to curb the spread of Covid-19. 

‘I was so sad, when the head teacher announced that we were 
going home. I did not know whether I will ever go to school 
again as I had always struggled to be in school.

I’m the first born in a family of 8. While at home, I missed my 
friends and for many months I had no mates to neither talk 
to nor play with. I could not meet with my friends as they live 
more than ten kilometers from my home. With no learning, 
my sister and I supported my family in herding livestock. 
We would take the animals to the grazing fields and water 
points about five kilometers from home.' 

When Sarah became pregnant, her father sought to identify a 
suitable 'suitor' and arrange for her to marry to save the family's 
name, in exchange for livestock and other monetary assistance 
to support his family. 

The information on the marriage arrangements (rituals and 
dowry negotiations) reached Community Facilitator David, 
who together with the Girl Child Network Project Officer 
and the Area Chief promptly intervened and rescued Sarah. 
The community members and the community facilitators 
negotiated with the family to allow Sarah to continue with her 
studies. Sarah reenrolled in October to prepare for and finally 
sat her KCPE exams. She is now waiting to join secondary 
school and is determined to work even harder for her baby. 

The work of the Girl Child Network through community 
facilitators is transforming the community and family perceptions 
on girls’ and children with disabilities education within the target 
communities and beyond. 

‘I will take care of my grandchild and support my daughter’s 
education.' Sarah’s father said. ‘I now know all children must 
continue with their education’ he concluded. 

‘I thank my father for giving me this opportunity to continue with 
my education. I will work hard and make him proud.’ Sarah said. 

* name changed to protect the identity of the individual
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Kajiado, Kenya 2020. Photo credit: GCN

An additional 2 million 
girls will undergo FGM 

before 2030 
prediction, due to Covid-19 disruptions

Source: UNESCO, 2020
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Programme Overview – Livelihoods

Livelihoods
Covid-19 restrictions on markets and travel 
has reduced access to food and increased 
cost of food locally. This, in addition to 
cyclical drought and flooding, and the worst 
locust invasion in 70 years, has seriously 
impacted on livelihoods, leading to an 
emerging food security crisis. 

With hunger one of the main barriers to 
education, two community farms were 
established in Turkana, in early 2021. This 
activity planned was for 2020 but was 
delayed due to recurrent locust infestations.  
The farms, once harvesting, will not only 
contribute to sustainable school feeding 
programmes but will also assist families to 
improve household food security, nutrition, 
and income. 

Each farm brings together the Boards of 
Management and community members 
from four schools. 217 members of target 
schools' Board of Management and 
community gatekeepers have been trained 
to manage these farms in the context of the 
ongoing climate change threats. 

1,239 community members and the 
640 children, members of Rights of the 
Child Clubs, were trained in Disaster Risk 
Reduction. The trainings taught learners 
how to recognise the early warning signs of 
drought and how to respond and mitigate 
against drought impact and encouraging 
participation in country Government forums. 

In Karamoja, Uganda, 84 farmers trained in 
sustainable agricultural practices and 3 school 
gardens established benefiting 1,264 people. 

Collecting water is a task traditionally given 
to girls and often requires walking over 
6 kilometres to the nearest water source 
every day. Taking a holistic approach for the 
empowerment of girls and women, 7 water 
tanks (4 in Turkana and 3 in Kajiado) have 
been installed in schools easing the burden 
on girls. Two boreholes were drilled in 
Karamoja, Uganda, reducing the burden on 
women and girls and resulting in improved 
access to water for approximately 1,350 
people. A third borehole was drilled. The 
instillation of the pump was delayed due to 
excessive rainfall and increased insecurity 
in the area. Pump instillation is set for the 
summer of 2021 and will provide a further 
440 people with access to water.

Aidlink continued to work with national and 
county level governments to ensure policies 
are in place to support the development of 
target communities. 

1,239 community members trained on Disaster 
Risk Reduction in Kenya.



A
id

lin
k 

A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
or

t 
20

20
  |

  2
6

Emergencies
The countries we work in are susceptible to 
frequent natural disasters such as drought 
and flash flooding resulting in vulnerable 
people losing their livelihoods and pushing 
families further into poverty.

The Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent 
restrictions was an additional threat to 
communities. In response, Aidlink together 
with our partners adjusted programmes 
to meet immediate needs of targeted 
communities. School feeding was transferred 
from school to households, providing 6,826 
people with a daily meal for three months. 
We supplied health centres with essential 
personal protective equipment and hand 
washing facilities to communities Karamoja, 
Uganda and Kajiado, Kibera and Turkana, 
Kenya. 

In partnership with the Ministry of 
Health, Kenya, and the National Drought 
Management Authority, Kenya and the 
Turkana Task Force, information campaigns 
were implemented across four counties. 
These campaigns took various mediums to 
share information to empower families with 
the best guidance to protect their families 
from the virus. The estimated reach of the 
radio messaging was 30,000 people across 
four counties. 

Community facilitators were equipped 
with smart phones and took on additional 
responsibilities in disseminating public 
health information and real-time monitoring. 

900 households in Turkana County received 
daily meals.

65 Hand washing facilities installed.

Programme Overview – Emergencies
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Initially people were reluctant to engage in the monthly 
community conversations, particularly the pastoralist 
community members who have traditionally looked to their 
political leaders or government officials for solutions to 
developmental challenges.

However, once local people began to understand the value 
of discussing the things that mattered to their community, 
and to re-examine how long held individual and collective 
opinion has hindered development in relation to the 
education of their children, the idea took root, real change 
began to happen.

Endikirr Primary enrolment figures have increased from 
300 to 500, and most members of the community recognise 
the importance of education for girls, actively supporting 
practical efforts put in place to ensure all children are safe 
and protected.  

Changing attitudes around disability has been more gradual.  
As always, the first step is to talk openly about the issues and 
thereby shedding stigma and shame.

More recently, Covid-19 has brought new challenges to 
the community. In the early stages, people feared for their 
health, Covid-19 was not understood and there was much 
confusion and panic. Our community conversations were not 
possible, which meant a reliable channel of information and 
communication was temporarily cut off.

The Ministry for Health did however launch a radio 
campaign encouraging social distancing, hand washing 
with soap, and mask wearing to prevent community 
transmission. But these items were not available to people 
in the community.

As lockdown continued it became clear that the loss of 
livelihood presented a new set of challenges at every level in 
the community, market closures meant families could not 
sell livestock or subsequently purchase food. As days became 
months, the food trucks from Uganda to markets in Turkana 
stopped. Scarcity of staples, like maize, caused prices to rise. 

Alex's Story

My name is Alex 
Kisironte and I work 
as a Community 
Facilitator (CF) at 
Endikirr Primary 
schools. I trained 
in 2018 and have 
been working 
in community 
development and 
advocacy since 
then. My main 
work revolves 
around an initiative 
called Community 
Conversations.

 Programme Overview – Emergencies
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Programme Overview – Emergencies

Alex's Story To decide how best to support the communities during 
the Covid crisis, all the CFs in Turkana reported to GCN and 
devised a plan, smartphones were supplied by GCN for 
virtual meetings. A poster and radio campaign was launched, 
posters were in the local language and children were 
encouraged to spread the word to adults with literacy issues.

We also conducted door to door visits to distribute 
information leaflets and to identify the most vulnerable 
households, including girls in need of sanitary pads. We 
mapped the distribution points for the sanitary pads for those 
who needed them. This also supported surveillance of 
the spread of Covid-19, which we reported to the Ministry 
of Health.

Last year was a difficult year and the impact will be felt in 
communities for years to come. We want 2021 a year 
of healing and helping families to recover. We will continue 
to be a community in conversation for a collective and 
better future.



29  |  A
id

lin
k A

n
n

u
al R

ep
ort 20

20

364 million 
school children missed 

out on school meals 
due to Covid-19 related closure

Source: World Food Programme, March 2020

Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit: GCN
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DEVELOPMENT EDUCATION
Immersion Spotlight:

My name is Jennifer McGuire and I am a Religion and English teacher 
in Blackrock College. In 2020, I was blessed with being asked to 
accompany a group of transition year students on an immersion trip to 
Sultan Hamud in Kenya. This experience was a turning point for me in how 
I approach education and how I view the world around me. 

My initial thoughts on the journey from Ireland to Kenya were 
somewhat mixed as I was both excited to meet the teachers and staff 
of our sister school, but I also experienced some level of anxiety and 
fear of the unknown. I was concerned about how the staff and students 
would initially view us. I have always been very aware of this “white 
saviour” image of the global north. The anxiety of being perceived as 
someone who held power and privilege was an initial concern of mine. 
However, this concept was quickly diminished and deconstructed as 
we arrived at our sister school and were immediately told the rules, 
the schedule, and the expectations they had of us. Any initial fear or 
anxiety I had was quickly gone. 

During the immersion program I had the chance to meet with 
teachers, year heads and school management in a series of meetings. 
We discussed our schools approaches to behaviour, wellbeing, 
additional educational needs etc. This was an amazing experience 
for me as I was able to gain great insight into the similarities and 
differences that exist in our schools. This series of meetings in which 
we exchanged ideas and experiences has laid the foundations for a real 
partnership between the staff members of our schools.

This year (2021) students could not travel to Kenya on immersion due 
to Covid-19. However, the power of immersion really shone through the 
dismal clouds of the pandemic as the relationship between Blackrock 
and the Holy Ghost Schools in Sultan Hamud. This year our TY students 
worked on a joint project with their peers in Kenya taking part in a 
series of events throughout the year via Zoom. Students organised 
an online mass to celebrate the founder of our school community in 
which students from both schools participated in readings and music. 
TYs then met with their counterparts in Kenya via zoom multiple 
times to carry out a research project into the value of immersion. 
They produced amazing videos, bonded as a group, and made friends 
across different continents. All of this culminated in a global showcase 
whereby students from Spiritan schools across Ireland, Nigeria, 

Feb 2020

When

Where
Kenya

What
Aidlink Immersion 

Programme

Who 
Jennifer McGuire 

Teacher
Blackrock College
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Development Education – Immersion Spotlight:

Tanzania, Uganda, Kenya, and Sao Paolo met on zoom to celebrate 
a Global Citizenship day. This day acknowledged the power of the 
immersion programme to bridge gaps and celebrate both similarities 
and differences of different cultures. 

None of this would have been possible if not for the years of immersion 
that have laid the foundations of such vital relationships. The 
immersion program has made me aware of the reciprocal relationship 
that can exist in our world that is divided into a global north and global 
south. Immersion in 2020 and the project that followed in 2020/21 has 
made it very clear that we are all citizens of a shared world and it is 
important for us all to become aware of the shared responsibility that 
goes hand in hand with that. 

Staff from Blackrock College, Dublin and Holy Ghost Schools, Sultan Hamud, Kenya February 2020.
From left to right; Ronan Kearney, Cosmas Mutua, Stella Kimilu, David Mbithi, Jennifer McGuire, Sebastian Mbike

and Killian Grumley Traynor.
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Development Education – Immersion Spotlight:

In the 10 days we were in Kenya, I felt we had ample opportunity to 
experience many things that tourists wouldn’t ever get to, such as being 
able to attend school with Kenyan boys that were studying the same 
courses as us like science, math, English, geography and their native 
language Swahili. Throughout the immersion programme 
I came to realise that there are many similarities between the life of 
a teenager in Kenya and in Ireland. The school life in Holy Ghost Schools 
is very similar to our school life. They have sports after school and even 
travel to other local schools for matches just like us. Then after sports 
they have dinner and then into study, which is pretty much the same 
as a Blackrock boy’s day. On reflection on school life and the lads our 
age, we have a lot in common and we had plenty of stuff to talk about 
in between classes such as sports, music, tv shows and movies, even 
though we had a lot of cultural differences we still had a lot in common.  

When we went on a day trip from school to the visit the Masai communities 
they were extremely welcoming. They were singing local music and 
dancing together having such a good time. They even allowed us to get 
up and join them dancing which for me was one of the best parts of the 
trip. When reflecting on the trips to the Masai communities you realize 
just how welcoming they were to invite 28 of us into the community. This 
experience has made me look at the world differently. 

Immersion Programmes are a type of Development Education. By giving first-hand experiences 
of a different way of life, these programmes aim to increase awareness and understanding of the 
challenges people face in extreme poverty. We support Irish communities to engage with African 
communities through Immersion programmes, Walk for Water and developmenteducation.ie

Feb 2020

When

Where
Kenya

What
Aidlink Immersion 

Programme

Who 
Darragh Cottor

Fifth Year Student
Blackrock College

Darragh Cottor, Blackrock College in class in Holy Ghost Secondary School, 
Sultan Hamud, February 2020.
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LOOKING FORWARD

▶ Education will remain at the heart of Aidlink’s work. With support 
from Irish Aid's Civil Society Fund the 'Every Girl in School' project 
will work to enable Kenya's nomadic pastoralist Masai and Turkana 
communities with a particular focus on supporting, safeguarding and 
empowering girls. Building on the last three years, the project will 
incorporate targeted interventions in schools and communities that 
ensure inclusive, quality and safe schools, tackle GBV including early 
marriage and FGM, and boost local livelihoods. These interventions 
will build communities' resilience, capabilities and capacity to support 
their girls and reduce social, cultural and environmental barriers to 
education, enabling more girls to attend school, learn and thrive.

▶ 2021 will see the development of a new Strategic plan to guide 
operations for the next 3 to 5 years and will include plans to expand 
fundraised income to support ongoing operations and to facilitate 
the ramping up of activity in Uganda, building on existing and 
new partnerships with local NGOs who share our vision for a better 
world, especially for women and girls.  

▶ Aidlink will continue to work with partner schools in Ireland. to 
deliver Development Education programmes and to re-establish 
the immersion programmes when safe to do so.

Covid-19 has put a spotlight on localisation. 
Aidlink’s partnership model, ensured that 
throughout the period of the pandemic, the 
challenging lockdowns and school closures, that 
Aidlink programmes were able to continue. Our 
trust in local knowledge and the relationships 
and systems where we work not only allowed us 
to continue our core programme work but also 
allowed us to quickly respond to the immediate 
needs of targeted communities when the 
coronavirus first reached East Africa. 
Building on our strong partnership model and our track record in 
delivering real and lasting change, Aidlink plans to Build Back Better 
in a post Covid world and will focus on targeting the most vulnerable 
in society, particularly girls and women from the nomadic pastoralist 
communities, the Masai and Turkana in Kenya and the Karamojong 
in Uganda. 

Partnership

Adaptability

Commitment
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT

Aidlink is a small charity with a big impact. There are three full-time 
staff in our headquarters in Dublin, with oversight from Aidlink’s 
Board of Directors.

Our work is guided by and strictly adheres to best-practice codes 
and policies. They shape our organisation, ensuring that we stay 
true to our values and remain accountable to our donors, supporters 
and the communities we serve. The Board of Directors of Aidlink 
is proud to apply and comply with the Charities Regulator Code of 
Good Governance. 

Aidlink’s commitment to a high standards 
of good governance, accountability and 
transparency have been recognized by 
Chartered Accountants Ireland Leinster 
Society’s Published Accounts Awards (2017, 
2018 & 2019) and the Carmichael Centre’s 
Good Governance Awards in 2017 and 2018.

Aidlink’s Board of Directors
Aidlink’s Board is committed to upholding the 
highest standards of corporate governance 
and ensuring Aidlink successfully delivers its 
mission, setting its strategic direction and 
upholding its core values through leadership 
and financial oversight.

In late 2020 allegations of fraud were raised 
against one partner in Uganda. No Aidlink 
funds or projects were impacted. The 
Board of Aidlink initiated an investigation 
and supported the formal investigation of 
the partners other donors. Aidlink worked 
together with the partners other donors and 
supported the remedial actions taken by the 
partner. The board of Aidlink are satisfied to 
continue working with the partner and have 
updated Aidlink’s anti-fraud policy.

2 1 advancing its 
charitable purpose

behaving with 
integrity

3 leading people
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT

Structure, Governance and Management

John Lynch Chairperson 
John is CEO at SelfSense Technologies, and 
also works as a Non-executive Director, 
business consultant and mentor. Previously 
he was CEO at Merrion Pharmaceuticals plc 
and has worked in the USA, UK and 
Ireland.

Liam Byrne Treasurer
Liam was educated at UCD and qualified 
with PwC. Prior to co- founding his own 
firm a number of years ago, he worked in a 
number of finance roles in New Zealand, the 
US, France, England and Ireland.

Eoghan Caffrey Director
Eoghan is a Policy Specialist at the Central 
Bank of Ireland. He holds a Masters in 
Development Studies and before joining 
the Central Bank, spent 5 years working in 
International Development on programmes 
spanning urban and rural Africa and 
Asia.

Marion Shaw Director
Marion is a qualified HR professional and 
business & executive coach with extensive 
leadership and management development 
experience working in an international 
organisation in the private sector. She has 
previously spent some time working in 
Africa.

Brian Ingarfield Director
Brian is an experienced general manager 
having previously occupied leadership 
roles in technology, travel, logistics, retail 
and franchised business es in Ireland, UK, 
Spain and Italy. Brian holds a Master’s 
in Business from the Irish Management 
Institute.

Board of Directors at the date of approval of financial statements were as follows:

Sean Crowe Director
Sean is currently principle at CFS, providing 
consulting services to financial services 
companies. He previously held a range of 
executive roles at Bank of Ireland including 
Chief Executive of the Markets Division and 
Group Treasurer and was a member of the 
Executive Committee steering Bank of Ireland 
from 2014 to 2020. Sean has served as a 
Director of New Ireland Assurance Company 
plc and of Bank of Ireland Mortgage Bank 
and is a member of the CFA Institute.

Ciarán Ó Muirthile Director
Ciaran is a senior manager at Google 
Ireland, where he is currently heading up 
the New Customer Onboarding team for 
Europe, the Middle East and Africa. He has 
worked at Google in Ireland and abroad 
for 14 years in a variety of advertising 
and marketing roles. He holds a B.A. 
International from UCD and a Higher 
Diploma in Business Enterprise from DCU.

Margaret O’Donohue Director
Margaret has worked in education for the 
last 30 years in a range of roles; teacher, 
guidance counsellor, Deputy Principal 
and until 2019, Principal of Loreto High 
School, Beaufort. She very much enjoyed 
two immersion trips to Uganda with 
Aidlink and the girls from Beaufort. She is 
currently working for iScoil, an educational 
provision for teenagers who can’t manage 
mainstream education.

Aishling Lennon Secretary
Aishling is currently the Regional 
Coordinator of Smart Dublin, an initiative 
of the four Dublin Local Authorities that 
uses new technologies and innovation to 
improve public services and quality of life 
in the Dublin region. She holds a BA in 
History, Politics and International Relations 
from UCD (2010). Aishling is a former 
Aidlink employee, having worked at the 
organisation from 2014-2018.

Name Appointed Attendance

John Lynch 2017 9/9

Brendan Feehan* 2014 9/9

Liam Byrne 2014 9/9

Eoghan Caffrey 2017 8/9

Marion Shaw 2015 9/9

Brian Ingarfield 2017 7/9

Sean Crowe 2018 9/9

Ciarán Ó Muirthile 2019 8/9

Margaret O’Donohue 2019 8/9

Aishling Lennon 2021 N/A

Aidlink’s Members
Aidlink’s Members protect the organisation’s core ethos and philosophy. They meet 
once a year at Aidlink’s Annual General Meeting. In 2020 the meeting was held on 
September 7th. An Extraordinary General Meeting of Aidlink was held on 19 April 2021 
where a new Constitution was adopted. 

*retiredBoard Meetings

4 excercising
control

5 working 
effectively

6 being accountable 
and transparent*

* The six principals of the 
 Charities Governance Code
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child marriages will take 
place between 2020–2030

UNFPA estimate Covid-19 has disrupted efforts 
to end child marriage

Source: UNFPA, April 2020

Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit: GCN
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
The Directors present their annual report and the 

audited financial statements of Aidlink for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2020. This report 

presents the information and disclosures required by 

a Directors’ Report under the Companies Act 2014, 

together with additional information required by 

the Charities Statement of Recommended Practice 

applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 

accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 

(effective 1 January 2015).

WHO WE ARE 

Aidlink is a company limited by guarantee, not having 

a share capital, incorporated in Ireland in 1982 under 

the Companies Act and registered in Ireland with 

registration No. 124133. Every member of Aidlink 

undertakes, if necessary, on a winding up during the 

time they are a member or within one year after they 

cease to be a member, to contribute to the assets 

of Aidlink an amount not exceeding €1.00. Aidlink’s 

governing document is its Constitution.

Under the provision of Section 1180 of the Companies 

Act, 2014, Aidlink is exempt from including ‘company 

limited by guarantee’ in its name.

Aidlink is a charity registered with the Charities 

Regulatory Authority, registered charity No: 20022730, 

and has been granted tax exemption by the Revenue 

Commissioners in Ireland, registered charitable 

taxation No: CHY 9078.

Registered office:
34 Greenmount Office Park, Harold’s Cross, 

Dublin 6W, D6W CX81

Our advisers

Auditors:
Woods & Partners Limited, Grattan Street, Portlaoise, 

Co. Laois, R32 HR62 

Solicitors:  

Arthur Cox, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, 

Dublin 2, D02 CK83

Bankers:   

Bank of Ireland, 28 Main Street, Blackrock, 

Co Dublin, A94 D890

Key management personnel 

Directors of the company and the Chief Executive Officer

Directors:  

The Directors serving during the year and since the 

year end were as follows:

Liam Byrne 1 (Treasurer) 

Eoghan Caffrey 4

Sean Crowe 5

Brendan Feehan 1
(Company Secretary, retired from the Board 1 March, 2021) 

Ciaran Ó Muirthile 5

Brian Ingarfield 3 

John Lynch 2 (Chairman)

Margaret O’Donoghue 5

Marion Shaw 5 

Aishling Lennon 1, 5 
(Appointed Director 4 January, 2021. Appointed Company 
Secretary 1 March, 2021)

Chief Executive Officer:
Anne Cleary

Committees of the Board  
1 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee        
2 Member of the Remuneration and Director’s Performance 

Committee  
3 Member of the Nominations and Governance Committee 
4 Member of the Programme Committee
5 Member of the Fundraising Committee

REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAIL
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES

Aidlink exists to improve the lives 

of those living in poverty in Africa 

by empowering local partners 

and communities to take charge 

of their own development and 

achieve healthy and fulfilling lives. 

Our programmes aim to deliver 

lasting change. By listening to 

the voices of communities, and 

through our partnerships, we work 

to address the structural causes of 

inequality and poverty. We believe 

that by putting the furthest behind 

first – often girls – we can support 

entire communities’ growth; 

supporting and strengthening 

African NGOs to enable them to 

take a leading role in tackling the 

issues they are facing.

Our programmes focus on:

Gender Equality

Aidlink and our partners are 

working to address the barriers 

that keep girls from flourishing 

in society. We are working to 

promote gender sensitivity and 

further rights-based education 

in communities. In schools, 

students, teachers, and Boards 

of Management are trained to 

support a child-friendly learning 

environment; communities have 

been sensitised on the harm of 

cultural practices such as early 

marriage and Female Genital 

Mutilation (FGM).

Education

Aidlink works to remove some of 

the obstacles that prevent children 

from going to school and to 

increase enrolment, retention and 

performance in schools where we 

work. We provide access to water 

on school grounds, build inclusive 

latrines with disability access and 

handwashing facilities, as well 

as changing rooms for girls. We 

provide school meals to thousands 

of children so that hunger is not a 

reason to miss class. We sensitise 

communities on the value of 

education and the damage of 

harmful cultural practices.

Livelihoods

Aidlink works to support families 

to develop sustainable agricultural 

practices. We work with pastoral 

communities, smallholder farming 

families and others, to ensure 

that they have the knowledge 

to produce and use plants for 

food, fuel, and land restoration. 

We deliver training on business 

management, nutrition, and 

finance, as well as other skills key to 

sustainable agriculture. 

Emergencies

Aidlink’s core strength is our 

partnerships. In times of crisis, 

together with our partners, we 

respond to the needs of the 

most vulnerable and provide 

a range of support to affected 

communities: food, clean drinking 

water, sanitation, necessary 

healthcare materials and access to 

information.

The impact of Aidlink’s work is 

measured against targets using 

a Results-Based Management 

system, assessed against Aidlink’s 

Strategic Plan, and benchmarks 

agreed with Irish Aid. Regular 

monitoring and evaluation are 

carried out by both local partners 

and Aidlink staff.

The on-granting of funds to local 

partners is subject to annual 

project agreements with each 

local partner. Partners implement 

Aidlink’s programme at the local 

level, ensuring community-led 

interventions, the sustainability 

of the programme, and delivering 

the best value for money for both 

donors and beneficiaries.  

Aidlink’s 2020 expenditure on 

Charitable Activities, including 

on-granted funds, development 

education activities and the 

relevant support costs, amounted 

to €555,828 (2019: €684,304), 

96% (2019: 95%) of Aidlink’s total 

expenditure for the year. A total 

of €376,016 (2019: €430,030) 

of expenditure on Charitable 

Activities, was on-granted to 

partners in Kenya and Uganda to 

deliver programme activities at 

the local level. A further €80,926 

(2019: €120,692) of expenditure 

on Charitable Activities relates to 

Aidlink’s development education 

activities, including one education-

based immersion programme from 

Ireland to Kenya in February 2020. 
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Directors’ Report
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE

2020 was both a challenging and 

rewarding year for Aidlink. The 

Covid-19 pandemic significantly 

impacted our partners and 

their ability to deliver planned 

programmes. It also altered our 

way of working in Ireland with all 

staff working remotely and routine 

fundraising plans severely altered. 

Despite this, the support and 

loyalty of our donors ensured we 

maintained income levels and the 

Government’s Temporary Wage 

Subsidy Scheme contributed to 

a reduction in costs. As a result, 

core programme objectives were 

met as Aidlink and our partners 

successfully pivoted programmes 

to meet the immediate needs of 

target communities in the context 

of Covid-19.

Aidlink’s primary focus in 2020 

was on the poorest and most 

excluded communities in Kenya, 

particularly girls and women from 

the nomadic pastoralist Masai 

and Turkana communities. The 

Irish Aid Civil Society Fund grant 

of €310,000 supported the Kenya 

Inclusive Quality Education Project 

(KIQEP) in Kajiado and Turkana 

Counties. 2020 was the final year of 

the Aidlink – Irish Aid KIQEP three-

year contract. Despite schools 

being closed, Aidlink and partners 

adjusted programme activities and 

maintained relations with target 

communities throughout the 

period.

Irish Aid funding carries significant 

restrictions and conditions. 

These include the requirement 

to contribute 30% to the Kenya 

Inclusive Quality Education Project 

from Aidlink’s own resources. Irish 

Aid recognises that the KIQEP 

entails significant inputs from the 

Dublin office and these costs are 

considered to be part of Aidlink’s 

KIQEP contribution.

In line with Aidlink’s commitment to 

women and children and building 

on the positive results achieved 

through our partnership since 2003, 

the Girl Child Network remains our 

key partner in the implementation 

of the Kenya Inclusive Quality 

Education Project supported by Irish 

Aid’s Civil Society Fund.

In 2020, Irish Aid has been 

particularly supportive and has 

amended the terms and conditions 

of its grant to recognise the 

challenges faced operating in the 

Covid-19 context. Aidlink made 

programme adjustments to meet 

this changing context which 

were approved by Irish Aid. These 

adjustments included transfer 

from school feeding to household 

feeding, the provision of sanitary 

pads for girls at home while schools 

were closed, the installation of 

handwashing stations for at 

risk communities, public health 

messaging and supporting 

Community Facilitators to maintain 

child protection surveillance and 

support vulnerable out of school 

children, especially girls.

The Kenya Inclusive Quality 

Education Programme reached an 

additional 16 schools (8 in Kajiado 

and 8 in Turkana counties) in 2020, 

bringing the cumulative total 

over three years to 33 schools. This 

programme is contributing to better 

educational outcomes for girls in 

targeted communities in Kenya.  

In Uganda, government restrictions 

in response to Covid-19, in addition 

to floods and locusts, severely 

impacted Aidlink’s activities. Our 

engagement with communities 

in Karamoja, was met by our long 

standing partner Voluntary Action 

for Development with the funding 

support of Foundations, Trusts and 

Corporate groups. 

In late 2020 allegations of fraud 

were raised against one Aidlink 

partner in Uganda. Pending the 

results of a third party investigation 

and an internal Aidlink review, 

Aidlink delayed the on-granting of 

funds to said partner. Investigations 

established that no Aidlink funds or 

projects were impacted. As a result 

of the subsequent remedial actions 

taken by the partner, the board 

of Aidlink are satisfied to continue 

working with the partner and 

release resources.   

Key elements of the 2020 

programme of work included:

• The expansion of the Kenya 

Inclusive Quality Education 

programme to 16 new schools 

reaching approximately 6,807 

children, and their families.

• The provision of girl and 

disability friendly latrines and 

semi permanent classroom 

blocks in 2 community primary 

schools in Karamoja, Uganda.
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)

• One education-based 

immersion programme linking 

an Irish Partner school with 

communities in Kenya.

Due to the pandemic and timing 

of the receipt of Irish Aid’s grant 

in late September, the full extent 

of the impact of Aidlink’s 2020 

programmes is yet to be realised. 

Programme achievements to-date 

include:

Gender Equality

• 14 girl and disability-friendly 

latrine blocks installed in public 

primary schools (6 Turkana, 

 8 Kajiado).

• 7 water tanks (4 Turkana, 

 3 Kajiado) installed in target 

schools.

• Following a 40% increase in 

teen pregnancies in Kenya, 

 a new care package has been 

introduced within target 

public primary schools to assist 

pregnant girls and new mothers 

in their return to school.

• 192 community gatekeepers 

(96 Kajiado, 96 Turkana) trained 

to advocate for the rights of 

children, especially girls and 

children with disabilities.

• Aidlink partners advocated 

for better policy and services 

provision for education, 

access to water and drought 

mitigation.

Education

• 16 primary schools (8 Turkana, 

 8 Kajiado) supported to create 

 a more child-friendly and 

gender-sensitive school for 

more than 6,807 students.

• 32 Community facilitators 

(16 Turkana, 16 Kajiado) were 

trained.

• 32 handwashing facilities 

installed in target schools 

 (24 Kajiado, 8 Turkana).

• 2 girl and disability-friendly 

latrine blocks and semi-

permanent classrooms installed 

in community schools in 

Karamoja, Uganda.

• 28 students and their teachers 

from Ireland travelled to Kenya 

as part of an education-based 

immersion programme. 

Participants recorded learning 

in knowledge, values and 

attitudes, skills, and action, 

including teamwork and human 

rights. 

Livelihoods

• 2 community farms established 

(Turkana).

Emergencies

• Radio messaging in relation to 

Covid-19 reached over 30,000 

people across 4 counties 

Turkana, Kajiado, Narok and 

Samburu, Kenya.

• 33 community handwashing 

facilities installed in Uganda 

 (25 Karamoja) and Kenya 

 (8 in Kibera) in response to the 

Covid-19 pandemic.
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Net income for the financial year 

was €29,001 (2019: deficit (€56,043)). 

Total 2020 income of €608,724 is 

down €56,341 on 2019. While we 

have seen an increase in income 

from Foundations, Trusts and 

Corporate groups (“FTCs”) and public 

donations (up €23,071 on 2019), the 

decrease is the result of a reduction 

in immersion programmes. Due 

to Covid-19 only one immersion 

programme took place in 2020 

compared to two in 2019.   

Aidlink was successful in drawing 

down year three of Irish Aid’s Civil 

Society Fund grant of €310,000 per 

annum (2018-2021). The conditions 

of this contract mandate that the 

funding be allocated to the Kenya 

Inclusive Quality Education Project 

in Kajiado and Turkana counties. 

This programme was delivered in 

conjunction with our long term 

partner, The Girl Child Network.

Income from FTCs increased 

from €125,376 (2019) to €148,447. 

This increase reflects increased 

support from the Bank of Ireland 

Staff Fund following the inclusion 

of an additional funding round in 

2020. Aidlink was successful in all 

4 rounds. Notwithstanding this 

increase, this source of income 

remains challenging as some 

corporations with ‘staff deduction’ 

schemes have seen their own staff 

numbers fall, with subsequent 

reduction in funds and the 

strategic decision by some to focus 

on the domestic agenda.

Every euro collected by Aidlink 

comes from the Irish public either 

directly, through membership of 

FTCs or by being taxpayers. The 

Board of Aidlink and Aidlink’s 

partners remain grateful for the 

support of the Irish people.

Immersion costs fell from €120,692 

in 2019 to €80,926 in 2020, while 

expenditure on other charitable 

activities also dropped from 

€563,612 (2019) to €474,902. This 

reflects a reduction in programme 

expenditure in Uganda down 

47% from €85,875 in 2019 to 

€40,641 in 2020. No on-granting 

took place to Ghana programme 

(2019: (€31,744)).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

  31 Dec 2020  31 Dec 2019 

  € €

RESULTS   

Net income/(deficit) for the financial year  29,001     (56,043)

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

IRISH AID AND OTHER INCOME

Irish Aid Other
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Included within expenditure on 

charitable activities and on raising 

funds were support costs of 

€152,054 (2019: €199,241). Support 

costs include all Irish based costs 

on staff, premises, and operating 

expenses. These costs are met 

from Aidlink’s unrestricted income, 

including Irish Aid’s administration 

funds.

The contract period for the Irish 

Aid Civil Society Fund grant is July 

to June while Aidlink reports on a 

calendar year. While Irish Aid’s total 

funding of €310,000 was received 

during the 2020 calendar year, a 

balance of €101,554 is included in 

restricted funds at year end. This 

was on-granted in March 2021 

as part of the final allocation of 

€123,318 to the Kenya Inclusive 

Quality Education Project.

Under accounting standards, 

this balance was included in the 

Restricted Income for 2020 and 

was on-granted to the Girl Child 

Network in March 2021 and will be 

included in the 2021 reports.

2020 saw a total increase in funds 

of €29,001. This is made up of 

an increase in restricted funds 

of €9,316 and an increase in 

unrestricted funds of €19,685.

Restricted funds at the year-end 

were €174,753. These are funds that 

must be allocated per the donors’ 

wishes.

RESERVES

Aidlink defines its reserves as 

its total unrestricted funds. These 

unrestricted reserves represent 

those resources that the company 

can use for any of its charitable 

purposes. The Board aims to 

maintain its total unrestricted 

reserves level at six months 

head office operating costs. This 

threshold has been set following an 

assessment of the following factors:

• The need to provide short term 

protection against downward 

fluctuations in annual incoming 

resources;

• The need to provide long term 

strategic financial support to 

Aidlink’s partners;

• The need to finance unplanned 

projects where the need arises; 

and

• The need to provide a financial 

cushion in the event of extreme 

circumstances affecting the 

company’s ability to operate.

At the end of year, Aidlink’s total 

funds were €402,994 of which 

€174,753 were restricted funds and 

€228,241 were unrestricted funds. 

Unrestricted funds, considered 

Aidlink’s reserve funds, exceed 

Aidlink’s six month reserve policy, 

representing approximately 15 

months of operating costs.

In response to uncertainty on 

future funding, the Directors 

decided in 2017 to transfer €150,000 

of Aidlink unrestricted funds to 

a designated reserve to meet 

unanticipated funding shortfalls. 

As part of the Board response to 

Covid-19 these funds were released 

during 2020. 

DONATION AND LEGACIES

Immersion Programme Other donations Legacies
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

OPERATIONAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT
The Directors consider annually 

the major risks to which Aidlink 

is exposed. They have reviewed 

and approved a risk register that 

scores risk based on an estimate 

of the likelihood of occurrence and 

the impact on the organisation 

with a bias towards high impact. 

The Aidlink risk register identifies 

risk under the themes of 

Reputational, Financial, Employee 

and Programme/Partner. Three 

significant risks and their mitigation 

strategies are identified below:  

• Future levels of income 
 Aidlink is reliant on grants and 

donations to implement the 

Development Programme. 

When the number or value 

of grants is reduced, Aidlink’s 

capacity to deliver projects and 

programmes is compromised. 

The Board mitigate this risk 

with the prioritisation and 

implementation of a fundraising 

strategy, which includes 

exploring new opportunities 

from trusts, foundations, and 

philanthropists. The annual 

budget and fundraising strategy 

have been amended and 

adjusted in light of the Covid-19 

pandemic.  

• Loss of Irish Aid funding
 Irish Aid funding is, by its very 

nature, subject to national 

changes in government policy. 

The Directors have identified 

this as a risk as it could result in 

initiatives or activities supported 

by Aidlink are no longer 

supported by Irish Aid. Aidlink 

received notification from Irish 

Aid in May 2021 that it had been 

approved under the Civil Society 

fund scheme for an additional 

three-year period ending June 

2024. The funding is targeted 

at one partner one project in 

Kenya and Aidlink expects to 

draw down year 1 funding in 

August 2021. The Directors 

continue to focus on growing 

and diversifying fundraising to 

meet co-funding requirements 

of this grant and to support 

other partners and projects. 

• Fraud
 The potential for fraud remains 

a significant risk to the 

organisation primarily due to 

the impact such an occurrence 

would have on public 

confidence in the organisation. 

The Directors have mitigated 

this risk by requiring partners to 

provide financial reports audited 

by independent auditors, by 

building capacity within partner 

organisations to ensure that 

they have robust financial 

systems and by engaging with 

partners’ other donors through 

sharing reports and meetings. 

 In late 2020 allegations of fraud 

were raised against one Aidlink 

partner in Uganda. No Aidlink 

funds or projects were impacted. 

Aidlink worked with partner’s 

other donors and together 

supported the remedial actions 

taken by the partner. The Board 

of Aidlink are satisfied to continue 

working with the partner and 

have updated Aidlink’s anti-fraud 

policy (December 2020).      

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Aidlink’s activities expose it to a 

number of financial risks including 

credit risk, cash flow risk and liquidity 

risk. Given the type and scale of the 

company’s activities, these risks are 

significantly lower than would occur 

in a commercial environment.

• Cash flow risk 
 The company’s activities expose 

it primarily to the financial risks 

of changes in foreign currency 

exchange rates – the primary 

exchange rate risk results from 

overseas partners’ programmes 

being denominated in non-euro 

currencies. The Directors believe 

it would be inappropriate to use 

derivative financial instruments 

as their costs would outweigh 

any advantages. Aidlink has some 

flexibility in timing of payments 

that allows it to mitigate the risk.

• Credit risk 
 The company’s principal financial 

assets are bank balances and cash 

and receivables. Aidlink’s credit 

risk is primarily attributable to its 

liquid funds. It is limited because 

the counterparties are banks 

with satisfactory credit-ratings 

assigned by international credit 

rating agencies with deposits 

insured under EU regulations.    

• Liquidity risk  
 The company’s reserve policies 

ensure that sufficient funds are 

available for ongoing operations 

and future developments. 

Further details regarding 

liquidity risk can be found in the 

accounting policies in Note 1 of 

the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report
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2021 DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Aidlink’s 2021 Development 

Programme will maintain a focus 

on working with the poorest 

communities in Kenya

and Uganda (the Masai, Turkana 

and Karamojong), with a particular 

emphasis on women and girls who 

have borne the brunt of lockdown 

poverty as a result of the Covid-19 

pandemic. Our priority is to build 

back better post pandemic. Aidlink 

will work to improve gender 

equality, education, and livelihoods 

outcomes among targeted 

communities.

The Kenya Inclusive Quality 

Education Project comes to an 

end in June 2021. The positive 

impacts and learnings from this 

programme have contributed 

to the development of a new 

education programme ‘Every Girl 

in School’, in partnership with the 

Girl Child Network in Kenya. Irish 

Aid has approved funding for this 

new three year project due to 

commence July 2021. 

In Uganda we continue to focus on 

an integrated development project 

in Karamoja, in partnership with 

Voluntary Action for Development.

We will support the work of Caritas 

Lodwar and Caritas MADDO, as 

well as our Ghanaian partners, on 

a project-by-project basis as funds 

allow. 

Immersion programmes from 

March 2020 onwards were 

cancelled as a result of Covid-19 

and while our Irish partners and 

African host communities had 

hoped to reschedule for 2021, it 

is unlikely that the global health 

environment will allow this. Aidlink 

will continue to work with Irish 

school partners and appreciate 

their fundraising support despite 

not traveling. 

2021 FUNDRAISING 

Fundraising is a key priority for 

the Board of Directors. Traditional 

methods of fundraising have 

been severely compromised as a 

result of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Strategies and plans developed in 

the context of Covid-19 have shown 

some positive returns and remain 

under constant review. A revised 

‘Fundraising in the Covid crisis’ 

strategy is being implemented 

and includes the following 

objectives:

• Securing Irish Aid Civil Society 

Scheme funds for Every Girl in 

School 2021-2024.

• Securing existing FTCs 

support and explore potential 

philanthropic opportunities. 

Aidlink will intensify efforts 

to strengthen existing 

relationships and to identify and 

target new trusts, foundations, 

and philanthropic organisations. 

• Strengthen community 

fundraising using online and 

digital platforms.

• Strengthen communications 

to raise awareness of Aidlink’s 

mission and values, to help 

cultivate and grow a pool of 

committed stakeholders and 

donors. 

• Strengthen relationships with 

our immersion partner schools, 

all of which have continued 

to generously support Aidlink 

throughout the Covid-19 crisis 

despite immersion programme 

cancellations. 
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Aidlink is governed by a Board 

of Directors who are responsible 

for providing leadership, setting 

strategy and ensuring control. 

Day to day operations of the 

organisation are managed by 

the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

appointed by the Board. Two 

staff members report to the CEO; 

the Programme Officer with 

responsibility for partners and 

programmes and Programme 

Officer with responsibility for 

fundraising and communications.  

Aidlink employs the expertise 

of external consultants where 

required. 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board must comprise of 

between eight and twelve non-

executive Directors. During 2020, 

Aidlink’s Board had 9 serving 

members, comprised of two women 

and seven men. Their professional 

biographies are available on the 

Aidlink website http://aidlink.ie/

about/governance/. In 2020, the 

Board met nine times (2019: nine 

times) with eight of these meetings 

held virtually with an average 

attendance of 95% (2019: 78%). 

The Directors are committed to 

maintaining the highest standards 

of Corporate Governance and 

believe this is a key element in 

ensuring the proper operation of 

Aidlink’s activities. A core element 

of this policy is to ensure that the 

company is led by an effective 

Board and an experienced Chief 

Executive Officer. The role of 

Chairman and Chief Executive 

Officer are separate, and all 

Directors are independent of the 

management of Aidlink. 

In 2020 Aidlink developed a new 

constitution. This was approved by 

the Charities Regulator in February 

2021, and was formally adopted at 

an Extraordinary General Meeting 

in April 2021. Aidlink’s Governance 

Policy will be updated in 2021 in 

line with the principals of The 

Charities Governance Code as set 

out by the Charities Regulatory 

Authority. Aidlink carries out 

annual Board and Chief Executive 

Officer Performance reviews and 

has a comprehensive process 

for reporting management 

information including monthly 

management accounts.  

BOARD APPOINTMENTS 

Directors are recruited through 

a combination of both public 

advertising and internal networking. 

Candidates for appointment to the 

Board are prioritised based on the 

Board’s requirements for expertise 

from time to time: for example, in 

the areas of development, finance, 

fundraising or governance. It is 

intended that the Board should 

comprise of a balance of expertise 

and disciplines. Directors receive 

induction training upon selection 

and are subject to a six-month initial 

trial before formal appointment.

Directors are expected to serve 

a minimum term of three years. 

Under the Articles of Association 

of Aidlink, each director is required 

to submit him or herself for 

re-election every three years at 

the annual general meeting. All 

Directors may serve a maximum of 

three, three-year terms.  

At least two new Directors are 

appointed in each rolling three-year 

period and at least two current 

Directors step down so as to both 

maintain continuity and experience 

and enable the introduction of 

fresh insights to the Board. If 

there are no voluntary retirements 

from the Board necessary to meet 

this policy, the Chairman shall 

nominate the Directors who shall 

next retire, taking into account the 

objectives of this policy. Retiring 

Directors may be invited to become 

members of Aidlink, subject to 

approval by the Board. 

Aishling Lennon was appointed 

to the board in January 2020 

and following the resignation of 

Brendan Feehan, in March 2021, 

Aishling has been appointed 

company secretary. We wish to 

express our gratitude to Brendan 

for his time and commitment to 

Aidlink and welcome his ongoing 

support as a member.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

There is a clear division of roles 

and responsibilities at Aidlink. 

The Board retains responsibility 

for strategy, policy and control 

of major decisions under a formal 

schedule of matters reserved 

to the Board. The Board delegate 

authority to the CEO for 

the day to day management 

of operations. 
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Committees of the Board meet 

at least once per year (For 

membership of the committees see 

page 38).

• Audit and Risk Committee 

(Chaired by Liam Byrne, 

Treasurer)

 The Audit and Risk Committee 

assists the Board in discharging 

oversight responsibilities, 

monitoring risks to the 

organisation and overseeing 

the financial reporting 

process in order to review the 

transparency, balance and 

integrity of Aidlink’s published 

financial information.

• Remuneration and Director 

Performance Review 

Committee (Chaired by 

 Gemma Grimes)

 The Remuneration and 

Director’s Performance 

Committee manages the 

remuneration and terms of 

employment of Aidlink staff. 

 It also reviews Aidlink’s 

succession management and 

staff development plans.

• Governance and 

 Nominations Committee 

(Chaired by Brian Ingarfield)

 The Governance and 

Nominations Committee 

ensure that the Board and 

its committees have the 

appropriate balance of skills, 

experience, independence, and 

knowledge of the company 

to enable them to discharge 

their respective duties and 

responsibilities effectively.

• Programme Committee 

(Chaired by Eoghan Caffrey)

 The Programme Committee 

provides guidance and advice 

on programme strategy. 

• Fundraising Committee 

(Chaired by Sean Crowe)

 The Fundraising committee 

provides direction and 

leadership on the fundraising 

strategy.

PAY POLICY FOR SENIOR STAFF

The Directors consider that the 

Board of Directors and the CEO, 

who is not a member of the Board, 

comprise the key management 

personnel of Aidlink in charge of 

directing and controlling, running, 

and operating the company on a 

day to day basis. 

With the exception of the CEO, 

all Directors give of their time 

freely and no director received 

remuneration in the year. 

While the Directors are entitled 

to reimbursement for vouched 

expenditure incurred in the 

performance of their duties, no 

such amount was claimed in 2020 

or 2019.

The pay of the CEO is reviewed 

annually by the Director 

Performance Review Committee. 

The salary of the other staff 

members is reviewed by the 

CEO in conjunction with the 

Remuneration Committee. 

Given the nature of the company, 

the Directors benchmark against 

pay levels in other non-profit 

organisations.

NETWORKS AND CONSORTIA  

Aidlink is a member of Irish, 

Kenyan, Ugandan, and international 

development networks and 

consortia. Membership of such 

organisations is seen as a key 

vehicle for Aidlink’s macro level 

engagement and advocacy. 

In Ireland, Aidlink is a member of 

Dóchas - the Irish Association of 

Non-Governmental Development 

Organisations, Charities Institute 

Ireland, the Wheel and is also 

a founding member of 

www.developmenteducation.ie. 

In Kenya and Uganda, Aidlink 

is a member of Pelum 

(Participatory Ecological Land 

Use Management).

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

The Directors acknowledge 

their overall responsibility for 

Aidlink’s systems of internal control 

and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

They have delegated responsibility 

for the implementation of this 

system to the CEO. This system 

includes financial controls, which 

enable the Board to meet its 

responsibilities for the integrity and 

accuracy of Aidlink’s accounting 

records.

The Board has established 

a process of compliance which 

addresses the Board’s wider 

responsibility to maintain, 

review and report on all internal 

controls, including financial and 

operational. Key elements of 

internal control systems include:
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INTERNAL CONTROLS 
CONTINUED

AUDIT FUNCTIONS TRANSPARENCY AND
ACCOUNTABILITY 

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

• Aidlink has strict policies and 

procedures in place for the 

receipt, recording and control of 

donations received from private 

individuals and the corporate 

sector;

• Procedures and control systems 

are formally documented in a 

series of partnership and project 

agreements that are reviewed 

bi-annually on a project by 

project basis;

• There is a formal organisational 

structure in place with clearly 

defined lines of responsibility, 

division of duties and delegation 

of authority;

• A detailed budget is prepared 

annually which is in line 

with the Strategic Plan and 

approved by the Board. Actual 

results and outcomes are 

compared regularly against 

budget and prior year to ensure 

alignment with budget, tight 

administration control, and 

value for money;

• The Audit Committee reports 

independently to the Board on 

all aspects of controls and risks; 

and

• The Board maintains a 

reserve policy that exceeds 

the minimum recommended 

for charities (three months 

reserves) to mitigate the 

increasing risks of the uncertain 

economy and to ensure 

sustainability of our services.

Aidlink uses the Xero accounting 

software package which is reviewed 

monthly. The management 

accounts were reviewed by the 

board nine times in 2020 (2019: nine 

times). Aidlink is audited by Woods 

and Partners Limited and financial 

statements and annual reports 

are published online. Financial 

statements are prepared in line 

with SORP standards and the 

Companies Act 2014; the Directors’ 

Report identifies the principal 

risks facing the organisation and 

mitigation strategies; a disclosure 

statement on senior management 

salaries is included. Aidlink 

remains committed to further 

strengthening transparency and 

accountability in order to maintain 

trust with the public, donors, and 

partners.

Aidlink is satisfied that no 

incidence of fraud or gross 

financial mismanagement has 

occurred in respect to Aidlink 

resources among partners or within 

the activities organised by the 

Dublin head office. Partners are 

externally audited by registered 

in-country auditors; audit reports 

and management letters are 

examined by Aidlink senior 

management and the treasurer in 

line with our financial policy. It is 

the current opinion of our partners’ 

independent auditors that their 

respective financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of each partner. Aidlink 

also reviews partners’ financial 

policies and procedures and holds 

independent discussions with 

partners’ financial managers as 

part of routine monitoring and 

evaluation processes. Review of 

partners other donors’ reports and 

audits provide further security 

regarding financial management 

procedures.
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FUNDRAISING POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

Monitoring fundraising is a chief 

responsibility of all Directors as 

they are charged with ensuring 

the short-term and long-term 

viability of the company. Aidlink has 

formally adopted and adheres to 

the Charities Regulator’s Guidelines 

for Charitable Organisations on 

Fundraising from the Public.

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Strategic oversight of the 

Development Programme is a 

key responsibility of all Directors. 

The Board are responsible for 

monitoring partner performance, 

ensuring programme results are 

on-track and ensuring expenditure 

is in line with targets and budgets. 

The Directors also ensure that 

throughout the life-cycle of 

the Development Programme, 

outcomes continue to contribute 

to the organisation’s strategic 

objectives.

The launch of our digital 

fundraising campaign in late 2020 

has had a positive impact in early 

2021. Donations at the end of 

May stood at €55,785 exclusive of 

regular givers. This figure includes 

a significant once-off donation of 

€20,000. An International Women’s 

Day webinar was hosted in March 

and in April we hosted a Water 

Webinar. These two events were 

supported by almost 100 members 

of the public.

Notification of multi annual 

funding from Irish Aid’s Civil 

Society Fund for the Every Girl in 

School Project, Kenya is welcome 

with the project due to commence 

in July 2021.

The unrestricted reserves 

of €150,000 were released by the 

Board in 2020 as a response to 

Covid-19. Thanks to the support 

of our donors, the use of these 

funds was not necessary during 

the year leaving them intact going 

into 2021. The Board has approved 

projections that anticipate a surplus 

on unrestricted funds of €18,574 

for 2021 resulting in €246,800 

unrestricted reserves at end of 

2021. These funds will enable the 

company to meet its obligations 

under its agreement with Irish Aid 

in 2022 and beyond and to support 

other partners and projects.

All schools in Kenya and Uganda 

have reopened after prolonged 

closures due to Covid-19. There is 

mounting evidence of increased 

rates of teen pregnancies and 

early marriage, Gender Based 

Violence and FGM within targeted 

communities. These challenges are 

further complicated by increased 

food insecurity, with circa 92% of 

targeted communities in both 

Kenya and Uganda classified by 

the World Bank as food insecure, 

as a result of a period of prolonged 

drought followed by flash flooding, 

and the third wave of locusts 

in recent months. Aidlink are 

delighted to report an over 78% 

average re-enrolment rate in our 

49 targeted schools in Kenya. We 

are continuing to reach out to the 

primary school aged children who 

have not yet returned to school 

post Covid closures.   
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ACCOUNTING RECORDS STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

The Directors acknowledge their 

responsibilities under Section 281 

to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 to 

keep adequate accounting records 

for the company.

In order to comply with the 

requirements of the Act, 

appropriate personnel are 

employed. The accounting records 

of the company are kept at the 

registered office and principal 

place of business, 34 Greenmount 

Office Park, Harold’s Cross, Dublin 

6W, D6W CX81.

The Directors are responsible for 

preparing the Directors' Report 

and the financial statements in 

accordance with the Companies 

Act 2014 and the applicable 

regulations.  

Irish company law requires the 

Directors to prepare financial 

statements giving an accurate 

and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the company and the 

net income or expenditure of 

Aidlink for each financial year. 

Under that law, the Directors have 

elected to prepare the financial 

statements in accordance with 

FRS 102: the Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable to the UK 

and Republic of Ireland (‘relevant 

financial reporting framework’). 

Under company law, the Directors 

must not approve the financial 

statements unless they are 

satisfied that they give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities 

and financial position as at the 

financial year end date and of the 

net income or expenditure of the 

company for the financial year 

and otherwise comply with the 

Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial 

statements the Directors are 

required to: 

• Select suitable accounting 

policies for the company 

financial statements and then 

apply them consistently; 

• Make judgments and 

accounting estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent; 

• State whether the financial 

statements have been prepared 

per the applicable accounting 

standards, identify those 

standards, and note the effect 

and the reasons for any material 

departure from those standards; 

and

• Prepare the financial 

statements on the going 

concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that 

Aidlink will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for 

keeping adequate accounting 

records that disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any 

time the financial position of 

the company and enable them 

to ensure that the financial 

statements comply with the 

Companies Act 2014. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the 

assets of the charity and hence 

for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud 

and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for 

the maintenance and integrity 

of the corporate and financial 

information included on the 

Aidlink's website. Legislation in 

Ireland governing the preparation 

and dissemination of financial 

statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions.
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GOING CONCERN STATEMENT ON RELEVANT 
AUDIT INFORMATION

AUDITORS

Directors’ Report
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 Continued

The company’s activities as well 

as the related funding issues are 

set out elsewhere in this Directors’ 

Report. In particular, the new 

funding arrangements with Irish 

Aid require a commitment from 

Aidlink to meet expenditure 

from its own resources to fulfil 

the funding conditions agreed 

with Irish Aid. The Directors are 

satisfied that Aidlink will be able 

to meet the requirements of 

Irish Aid. In addition, they have 

concluded that they have a 

reasonable expectation that the 

company has adequate resources 

to continue its operational 

activities for the foreseeable future, 

being a period of twelve months 

from the date of approval of the 

financial statements. Accordingly, 

the Directors have continued to 

adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparing the annual 

financial statements. 

Under Section 330 of the 

Companies Act 2014, so far as 

each person who was a director 

at the date of approving this 

report is aware, there is no 

relevant audit information, being 

information needed by the auditor 

in connection with preparing its 

report, of which the auditor is 

unaware. Having made enquiries 

of fellow Directors, each director 

has taken all the steps he/she is 

obliged to take as a director to 

make himself/herself aware of any 

relevant audit information and to 

establish that the auditor is aware 

of the information.

During the year, Deloitte resigned 

as Aidlink’s auditors and have 

confirmed to the Board that there 

were no matters that needed to be 

brought to the Board’s attention.  

Deloitte were auditors of the 

company for a number of years 

and have been very supportive 

of Aidlink. The Board would like 

to express its appreciation for this 

support and thank the various 

Deloitte partners and staff who 

have been on the engagement 

over the years.

As a result of the resignation of 

Deloitte, the Board appointed 

Woods and Partners Limited 

to fill the vacancy thus created.  

Woods and Partners Limited have 

extensive experience in the not for 

profit sector. 

In accordance with Section 383(2) 

of the Companies Act 2014, the 

auditors, Woods and Partners 

Limited will continue in office.

Date: 14th June 2021

Signed on behalf of the Board:

John Lynch

Director

Liam Byrne

Director
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Aidlink

OPINION

We have audited the financial 

statements of Aidlink (the 

'Company') for the year ended 31 

December 2020, which comprise 

the Statement of Financial 

Activities, the Balance Sheet, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and the 

notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. The financial 

reporting framework that has 

been applied in their preparation 

is Irish law and Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 ‘The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in 

the UK and Republic of Ireland'.

In our opinion the financial 

statements:

• give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities and financial 

position of the Company as at 

31 December 2020 and of its 

surplus for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared 

in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 ‘The 

Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland'; and

• have been properly prepared 

in accordance with the 

requirements of the Companies 

Act 2014.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 

(ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. 

Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described 

in the Auditors' responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the 

Company in accordance with the 

ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of financial 

statements in Ireland, including 

the Ethical Standard issued by 

the Irish Auditing and Accounting 

Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We 

believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO 

GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial 

statements, we have concluded 

that the directors' use of the going 

concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial 

statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have 

performed, we have not identified 

any material uncertainties relating 

to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may 

cast significant doubt on the 

Company's ability to continue as 

a going concern for a period of at 

least twelve months from when the 

financial statements are authorised 

for issue.

Our responsibilities and the 

responsibilities of the directors 

with respect to going concern are 

described in the relevant sections 

of this report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible 

for the other information. The 

other information comprises the 

information included in the 

Annual report, other than the 

financial statements and our 

Auditors' report thereon. Our 

opinion on the financial statements 

does not cover the other 

information and, except to the 

extent otherwise explicitly stated 

in our report, we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon.

Our responsibility is to read 

the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the 

other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. 

If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent 

material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether 

there is a material misstatement 

in the financial statements or 

a material misstatement of the 

other information. If, based on 

the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to 

report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 

PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES 

ACT 2014

Based solely on the work 

undertaken in the course of the 

audit, we report that:

• in our opinion, the information 

given in the Directors' Report 

is consistent with the financial 

statements; and
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Aidlink Continued

• in our opinion, the Directors' 

Report has been prepared in 

accordance with applicable 

legal requirements.

We have obtained all the 

information and explanations 

which we consider necessary for 

the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting 

records of the Company were 

sufficient to permit the financial 

statements to be readily and 

properly audited, and the financial 

statements are in agreement with 

the accounting records.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE 

REQUIRED TO REPORT BY 

EXCEPTION

Based on the knowledge and 

understanding of the Company 

and its environment obtained 

in the course of the audit, we 

have not identified any material 

misstatements in the Directors' 

Report.

The Companies Act 2014 requires 

us to report to you if, in our opinion, 

the disclosures of directors' 

remuneration and transactions 

required by sections 305 to 312 of 

the Act are not made. We have 

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES 

AND RESTRICTIONS ON USE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in 

the Directors' responsibilities 

statement, the directors are 

responsible for the preparation 

of the financial statements and 

for being satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view, and for such 

internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial 

statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the 

Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless 

the management either intends 

to liquidate the Company or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain 

reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an 

Auditors' report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 

high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) 

will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements.

A further description of our 

responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements is located on 

the IAASA's website at: https://www.

iaasa.ie/Publications/Auditing-

standards. This description forms 

part of our Auditors' report.

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT 

WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE 

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

This report is made solely to the 

Company's members, as a body, 

in accordance with Section 391 of 

the Companies Act 2014. Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that 

we might state to the Company's 

members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an 

Auditors' report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept 

or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Company and the 

Company's members, as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for 

the opinions we have formed.

Date: 14 June 2021

Signed:

Noel Delaney FCA

For an on behalf of

Woods and Partners Limited

Chartered Accountants and 

Registered Auditor

Grattan Street

Portlaoise

Co. Laois
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Statement of Financial Activities
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

  Restricted  Unrestricted Designated  Total  Total
  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds
  2020  2020  2020 2020  2019

 
 Notes €  €  € € €

INCOME   

Donations and legacies 3 8,400 141,877 - 150,277 229,689

Charitable activities - Irish Aid 4 279,000 31,000 - 310,000 310,000

Charitable activities - Other 5 148,447 - - 148,447 125,376

Total income  435,847 172,877 - 608,724 665,065

EXPENDITURE   

Raising funds 6 - (23,895) - (23,895) (36,804)

Charitable activities 7 (426,531) (129,297) - (555,828) (684,304)

Total expenditure  (426,531) (153,192) - (579,723) (721,108)

Net income/(expenditure)  9,316 19,685 - 29,001 (56,043)

Transfers between funds 9 - 150,000 (150,000) - -

Net movement in funds 17 9,316 169,685 (150,000) 29,001 (56,043)

Reconciliation of funds 18

Total funds brought forward  165,437 58,556 150,000 373,993 430,036

Total funds carried forward  174,753 228,241 - 402,994 373,993
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

  2020  2019

 
 Notes € €

FIXED ASSETS   

Tangible assets 14 4,418 2,560

CURRENT ASSETS   

Debtors 15 4,931 8,601

Cash at bank and in hand  408,980 371,946

  413,911 380,547

LIABILITIES      

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 16 (15,335) (9,114)

NET CURRENT ASSETS  398,576 371,433

NET ASSETS  402,994 373,993

REPRESENTED BY:

Accumulated funds – restricted      17  174,753 165,437                        

Accumulated funds – unrestricted 17 228,241 58,556

Designated fund – unrestricted  17 - 150,000

  402,994 373,993

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 14 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

John Lynch Liam Byrne

Director Director
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

  2020  2019

 
 Notes € €

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Net cash used in operating activities 18 40,956 (57,523)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Interest received  - -

Purchase of tangible fixed assets  (3,922) -

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (3,922) -

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    37,034 (57,523)

Balance at 1 January 2019        429,469                        

Cashflow for the year   (57,523)

Balance at 1 January 2020   371,946

Cashflow for the year   37,034

Balance at 31 December 2020   408,980

ANALYSIS OF CHANGES 
in cash and cash equivalents

€
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Aidlink accounts are presented in 

euro. The significant accounting 

policies adopted by Aidlink are as 

follows:

GENERAL INFORMATION

Aidlink is a company incorporated 

in Ireland under the Companies Act 

2014. The company is a company 

limited by guarantee not having 

a share capital (CLG) under Part 

18 of the Companies Act 2014. The 

address of the registered office is 34 

Greenmount Office Park, Harold’s 

Cross, Dublin 6W, D6W CX81. The 

company’s operations and its 

principle activities are set out in the 

Director’s Report on pages 38 to 51.  

BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost 

convention and in accordance with:

• Accounting and Reporting 

by Charities: Statement of 

Recommended Practice 

applicable to charities preparing 

their financial statements in 

accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable 

in the UK and Republic of Ireland 

(Charities SORP (FRS 102));

• The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102); and

• Irish statute comprising the 

Companies Act 2014.

As permitted by section 291(3)(4) 

of the Companies Act 2014, the 

company has varied the standard 

format specified in that Act for the 

Statement of Financial Activities, 

the Balance Sheets and Cash Flow 

Statement. Departures from the 

standard formats, as outlined in 

the Companies Act 2014, are to 

comply with the requirements of the 

Charities SORP (FRS 102) and are in 

compliance with sections 4.7, 10.6 

and 15.2 of that SORP. The Charities 

SORP was developed by the Charity 

Commission for England and Wales 

and the Office of the Scottish 

Charity Regulator, who are the joint 

SORP-making bodies recognised by 

the UK Accounting Standards Board, 

as the appropriate parties to develop 

SORPs for the charity sector.  

Financial reporting in line with 

the Charities SORP (FRS 102) 

is considered best practice for 

charities in Ireland. As noted 

above, the Directors consider the 

adoption of the Charities SORP 

(FRS 102) requirements as the most 

appropriate accounting practice 

and presentation to fairly reflect 

and disclose the activities of the 

company.

INCOME

Income is analysed according to 

the activity that produced the 

resources as follows:

• Donations and legacies

 Donations and legacies include 

all income received by Aidlink 

that is, in substance, a gift made 

to the company on a voluntary 

basis. It is accounted for when 

there is evidence of entitlement, 

receipt is probable, and the 

amount can be measured 

reliably. As with similar charitable 

organisations, independent 

groups from time to time 

organise fundraising activities. 

However, as amounts collected 

this way are outside the control 

of Aidlink, they are not included 

in the financial statements until 

received by Aidlink.

• Charitable activities 

 Income from charitable activities 

includes income earned from 

performance related grants 

that specify the activities to 

be delivered by Aidlink. It is 

accounted for when amounts 

receivable on grant and funding 

applications are approved or 

paid.

• Investment

 Investment income is accounted 

for on a receipts basis.

RESTRICTED FUNDS

Income received by Aidlink, the 

application of which is restricted 

to a specific purpose by the donor, 

is treated as restricted funds and 

any unspent amounts as restricted 

assets. Such specified purposes 

are within the overall aims of the 

organisation.

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS

Other income, apart from restricted 

funds, is used by Aidlink in the 

furtherance of its work and 

objectives. Such funds may be held 

in order to finance administration 

expenses or may be used at the 

discretion of the organisation for 

specified purposes that are within 

the aims of the organisation.
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EXPENDITURE

Resources expended are analysed 

between raising funds and 

expenditure on charitable activities. 

Raising funds and expenditure on 

charitable activities are accounted 

for on an accrual basis.

• Raising Funds

 Expenditure on raising funds 

includes all expenditure 

incurred by Aidlink to raise 

funds for its charitable activities.

• Charitable Activities

 Expenditure on charitable 

activities includes all costs 

incurred by Aidlink in 

undertaking activities that 

further its charitable aims, 

including those support 

costs and costs relating to 

governance of the company.

• Support Costs 

 Support costs are directly 

allocated to the related activity 

where possible. Otherwise 

support costs are allocated on 

the basis of staff time. 

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Revenues and costs arising from 

transactions denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated 

into Euro at the rates of exchange 

ruling on the date on which the 

transaction occurred.

Assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated 

into Euro at the rates of exchange 

ruling on the balance sheet date.  

The resulting surplus or deficit 

are dealt with in the statement 

of financial activities.

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Cash at bank and in hand comprises 

cash on hand and demand deposits.

FIXED ASSETS AND 

DEPRECIATION 

Fixed assets are recorded at cost.

Depreciation is provided so as to 

write off the cost of fixed assets 

over their expected useful lives at 

the following annual rates:

Office equipment 10% straight line

Computer equipment 20% straight line

OPERATING LEASES

Annual operating leases are 

charged to the statement of 

financial activities in the year that 

they are paid.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Aidlink only has financial assets 

and financial liabilities of a kind 

that qualify as basic financial 

instruments. Basic financial 

instruments are initially recognised 

at transaction value and 

subsequently measured at their 

settlement value.  

2.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

 AND UNCERTAINITY 

In the application of Aidlink’s 

accounting policies, the Directors 

are required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions 

about the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other 

sources. Given the scale of the 

company’s activities and the 

quantum of the individual items 

contained within assets and 

liabilities, these judgements, 

estimates and assumptions 

are generally immaterial to the 

financial statements. Where 

such a judgement, estimation 

or assumption is material, it is 

disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements.

GOING CONCERN

The company has entered into 

a three year funding agreement 

with Irish Aid. As part of that 

agreement, Aidlink must meet 

certain conditions, including the 

expenditure of funds from non 

Irish Aid sources. The directors 

are satisfied that Aidlink will be 

able to meet the conditions of the 

Irish Aid funding agreement. The 

company’s activities as well as the 

related funding uncertainties are 

set out in the Directors’ Report. 

As is explained more fully in 

Plans for the Future and Going 

Concern in the Directors’ Report, 

the Directors have a reasonable 

expectation that the company has 

adequate resources to continue 

its operational activities for 

the foreseeable future, being a 

period of twelve months from the 

date of approval of the financial 

statements. Accordingly, the 

Directors have continued to 

adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparing the annual 

financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

3. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES

  Restricted  Unrestricted  Total  Total
  Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
  2020  2020  2020  2019
 
  €  €  € €
VOLUNTARY INCOME   

Immersion Programme Costs  8,400 - 8,400 89,155

Immersion Schools  - 68,548 68,548 70,222

Other Donors and Regular Givers  - 73,279 73,279 46,249

Subtotal  8,400 141,827 150,227 205,626

ACTIVITIES FOR GENERATING FUNDS   

Community Fundraising  - 50 50 7,429

Turkana Drought appeal  - - - 4,055

Aidlink for Turkana   - - - 16,634

Subtotal  - 50 50 24,063

Total income from donations and legacies  8,400 141,877 150,277 229,689

4. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES – IRISH AID

  Restricted  Unrestricted  Total  Total
  Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
  2020  2020  2020  2019
 
  €  €  € €
IRISH AID   

Kenya Inclusive Quality Education Project  279,000 - 279,000 279,000

Programme Quality  - 31,000 31,000 31,000

Programme Support   - - - -

Total  279,000 31,000 310,000 310,000

The grant from Irish Aid has been allocated 
to the following partners:   

Girl Child Network (Kenya)  273,000 - 273,000 263,200

Programme Quality  6,000 31,000 37,000 46,800

Total  279,000 31,000 310,000 310,000



A
id

lin
k 

A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
or

t 
20

20
  |

  6
0

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

5. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES – OTHER

  Restricted  Unrestricted  Total  Total
  Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
  2020  2020  2020  2019

 
  €  €  € €

ASTI Development Aid Fund  4,280 - 4,280 -

Bank of Ireland Staff Third World Fund  86,114 - 86,114 60,230

Dublin City Council Staff World Development Fund  - - - 5,400

Electric Aid  44,142 - 44,142 40,946

INTO Solidarity Fund  - - - 1,500

RTÉ One World Fund   - - - 3,650

Staff of HSE Assoc. for Relief of Poverty  8,678 - 8,678 8,650

Wild Geese  5,233 - 5,233 5,000

Total  148,447 - 148,447 125,376

Grants noted above have been allocated to the 
following partners:   

Amani Kibera (Kenya)  2,283 - 2,283 -

Caritas Lodwar (Kenya)  - - - 8,650

Girl Child Network (Kenya)   115,214 - 115,214 66,326

St. Paul’s Parish- Turkana (Kenya)  2,950 - 2,950 5,000

Voluntary Action for Development (Uganda)  28,000 - 28,000 45,400

Total   148,447 - 148,447 125,376

6. RAISING FUNDS

  Restricted  Unrestricted  Total  Total
  Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
  2020  2020  2020  2019

 
  €  €  € €

Fundraising Expenses   - (1,088) (1,088) (6,917)

Support Costs (Note 10)  - (22,807) (22,807) (29,887)

Total  - (23,895) (23,895) (36,804)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

  Activities  Grant  Support  Total  Total
  Undertaken  Funding of  Costs  Funds  Funds
  Directly  Activities  (Note 10) 2020  2019

 
  €  €  € € €

Inclusive Quality Education – Kenya  (50) (349,043) (83,630) (432,723) (445,993)

Karamoja Community Development –   - (25,435) (15,206) (40,641) (85,875) 
Uganda

Covid – Kibera  - (1,538) - (1,538) -

Education Ghana  - - - - (31,744)

Development Education  (50,515) - (30,411) (80,926) (120,692)

Total  (50,565) (376,016) (129,247) (555,828) (684,304)

Restricted  (50,515) (376,016) - (426,531) (510,874)

Unrestricted  (50) - (129,247) (129,297) (173,430)

Total  (50,565) (376,016) (129,247) (555,828) (684,304)

7.   CHARITABLE ACTIVITES

    Irish Aid  Other  Total  Total
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds
   2020  2020 2020  2019

 
    €  € € €

Caritas Lodwar (Kenya)   - - - (10,018)

Girl Child Network (Kenya)    (273,000) (73,125) (346,125) (314,803)

St. Paul’s Community Turkana (Kenya)   - (2,918) (2,918) (7,515)

Voluntary Action for Development (Uganda)  - (25,435) (25,435) (65,950)

Amani Kibera (Kenya)   - (1,538) (1,538) -

Congregation of the Holy Spirit (Ghana)  - - - (20,344)

Bemcom Youth Enterprises Assoc. (Ghana)  - - - (6,400)

St James Senior Secondary School (Ghana)  - - - (5,000)

Total   (273,000) (103,016) (376,016) (430,030)

8.   CHARITABLE ACTIVITES – GRANT FUNDING OF ACTIVITIES
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

9. TRANSFERS

In response to the Covid-19 crisis, the Directors decided to release the €150,000 designated reserve to 

unrestricted funds. 

10. SUPPORT COSTS

Basis of allocation is time:

Governance costs included above can be analysed as follows:

  Inclusive  Karamoja      
  Quality  Community       
 Raised Education  Development Development Total Total 
 Funds Kenya Uganda Education Funds Funds
 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019

 € €  €  € € €

Salaries + Staff costs (16,543) (60,659) (11,029) (22,058) (110,289) (143,157)

Office expenses  (3,944) (14,463) (2,630) (5,259) (26,296) (36,206)

Website & IT (742) (2,722) (495) (990) (4,949) (3,151)

Repairs & depreciation (715) (2,622) (477) (954) (4,768) (3,808)

Governance (863) (3,164) (575) (1,150) (5,752) (12,920)

Total (22,807) (83,630) (15,206) (30,411) (152,054) (199,242)

   Restricted Unrestricted Total Total 
   Funds Funds Funds Funds
   2020 2020 2020 2019

    €  € € €

Professional Audit Fees   - (5,186) (5,186) (5,606)

Catering   - (38) (38) (285)

Annual Report   - (488) (488) (7,009)

CRO   - (40) (40) (20)

Total   - (5,752) (5,752) (12,920)
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

11. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

  2020  2019
The average numbers of persons employed by 
the company during the year were:  Number Number

Administration  3 3

  

  2020  2019

The staff costs comprised of:  € €

Salaries  95,430 127,829

Social Welfare Costs  9,020 14,355

Employer Pension Contribution  5,839 973

Total  110,289 143,157

  2020 2019

  Number Number

Number of employees whose total employee    
benefits fall within the band €60,000 to €69,999.  1 1

Aidlink’s Chief Executive Officer’s salary is €66,744 and she was paid €51,353 in 2020 (2019: €66,744) as 

a result of the application of the Irish Government’s Temporary Wage Subsidy scheme (TWSS). Total TWSS 

received in 2020 amounted €16,645 (2019: nil). The CEO receives contributory pension benefit to the value 

of €5,839 per annum. There are no other employees whose total employee benefits exceed €60,000. 

Payroll costs are allocated to expenditure headings in accordance with the employee’s time inputs. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

12. NET INCOME

  2020  2019

  € €

Net income is stated after charging:  

Directors’ remuneration and emoluments  - -

Depreciation  2,064 1,330

Auditors’ remuneration  4,820 5,200

 
and after crediting:   

Interest income  - -

Auditors’ remuneration disclosure (excluding Value Added Tax): 

Audit  4,000 4,500

Tax advisory services  - -

Other assurance services  - -

Other non-assurance services  - -

Directors are entitled to reimbursement for vouched expenditure incurred in the performance of their 

duties. The amount charged in 2020 was € nil (2019: € nil).

13.  TAXATION

There is no charge to taxation in respect of the organisation as Aidlink has been granted charitable status 

under Section 207 of the Consolidated Tax Act, 1997, therefore no provision for taxation has been made.
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      Office  Computer  
      Equipment  Equipment  Total
 
    € € €
COST    

At 31 December 2019    4,215 10,991 15,206

Additions    - 3,922 3,922

At 31 December 2020    4,215 14,913 19,128

DEPRECIATION    

At 31 December 2019    4,215 8,431 12,646

Charge in year    - 2,064 2,064

Disposals    - - -

At 31 December 2020    4,215 10,495 14,710

NET BOOK VALUE    

At 31 December 2020    - 4,418 4,418

At 31 December 2019    - 2,560 2,560

14. FIXED ASSETS 

16. CREDITORS: (Amounts falling due within one year)

  2020  2019

  € €

PAYE/PRSI  9,570 2,972

Accruals  5,765 6,142

Total   15,335 9,114

15.  DEBTORS: (Amounts falling due within one year)

  2020  2019

  € €

Debtors and accrued income  4,931 8,601
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

    Restricted  Unrestricted  Designated  Total
    Funds  Funds  Fund  Funds
        
    €  € € €

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

Balance at 1 January 2020   165,437 58,556 150,000 373,993

Income   435,847 172,877 - 608,724

Expenditure   (426,531) (153,192) - (579,723)

Transfers   - 150,000 (150,000) -

Balance at 31 December 2020   174,753 228,241 - 402,994

    Restricted  Unrestricted   Total
     Funds  Funds   Funds
        
     € € €

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS

Tangible fixed assets    - 4,418 4,418

Current assets    174,753 239,158 413,911

Current liabilities    - (15,335) (15,335)

Balance at 31 December 2020    174,753 228,241 402,994

17. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

18. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH FROM/ (USED IN) CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

  2020  2019

  € €

Net income/ (expenditure)  29,001 (56,043)

Movement in funds before financial activities  29,001 (56,043)

Depreciation charge  2,064 1,330

Decrease in debtors  3,670 2,314

(Decrease)/increase in creditors  6,221 (5,124)

Net Cash outflow from charitable activities  40,956 (57,523)
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

19. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Aidlink rents its office premises under an operating lease. This lease expired on 3 October 2020. Aidlink has 

entered into a one year extension. The new lease incorporates a clause offering a 50% reduction in rent for 

the period of government imposed Level 5 restrictions. Under the terms of this lease, Aidlink has outstanding 

commitments in respect of a non-cancellable operating lease as follows:

20. RELATED PARTIES 

Included in donations is an amount of €10,024 (2019: €10,950) received from Directors of the company with no 

conditions attaching. There are no other related party transactions.

  2020  2019

  € €

Within one year  10,125 10,125

Later than one year but within five years  - -

  10,125 10,125

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The carrying value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:

  2020  2019

  € €

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable   
Debtors and accrued income (see note 15)  4,931 8,601

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Measured at undiscounted amount payable
PAYE/PRSI/USC (see note 16)  9,570 2,972
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Continued

22. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS  

Covid-19 continues to impact 

Aidlink’s operations, including 

our ability to raise funds. General 

fundraising has been limited 

and most of the immersion 

programmes scheduled for 2020 

were cancelled. 

In response to these funding 

challenges, the Board agreed to 

release the company’s designated 

reserve fund of €150,000. Reserves 

as of 31 December 2020 amount to 

€228,000 and in line with Aidlink 

reserves policy. 

Despite these challenges, we 

continued to engage with our 

supporters who have remained 

committed and supportive. They 

continue to provide guidance and 

much needed financial resources. 

Virtual and online fundraising 

has resulted in a 30% increase in 

unrestricted income so far in 2021 

compared to the same period last 

year. This increase includes a one-

off donation of €20,000 received in 

January 2021. 

The restriction on international 

travel means that all monitoring 

and evaluation of our partners 

and projects continues through 

electronic means.

All schools in Kenya reopened in 

January 2021 to a revised school 

calendar designed to maximise 

learning time. Reenrolment rates 

at circa 90% in comparison to the 

national average of 75%. This is 

due in part to the programme 

adjustments and the deep 

engagement with communities 

by local partners throughout 

the period of school closures. 

Further core programme activities 

that include school water and 

sanitation facilities have ensured 

that schools met all re-opening 

Covid-19 criteria. An additional care 

package targeting pregnant and 

teen mothers has been included 

in 2021 project plans to facilitate 

the safe return to school of these 

young girls. 

In Uganda school reopening was 

delayed due to national elections 

and local insecurity further stalled 

reenrolment in Karamoja. With 

schools now fully open, children 

are slowly returning. The Karamoja 

Community Development water 

and education projects were 

relaunched in May 2021 and 

include:  

• Drilling of 3 boreholes for 

improved access to safer 

cleaner water, and 

• Construction of semi-

permanent classroom blocks at 

2 community primary schools. 

Aidlink is dependent of the 

goodwill and financial support of 

its donors, in particular Irish Aid.  

During early 2021, we applied to 

Irish Aid for their support in respect 

of our ‘Every Girl in School’ project 

that will be run through our main 

Kenyan partner, the Girl Child 

Network.   

During May 2021, we were notified 

by Irish Aid that we had been 

successful in this application to 

the Civil Society Fund. An amount 

of €380,000 per annum has been 

approved for the three years 

ending June 2024. This is a 23% 

increase on their previous funding 

level, and we believe is testament 

to Aidlink’s vision, partnership 

model, our track record of 

delivering real long-lasting change 

and our standards of governance. 

The directors are grateful for 

the continued support of the Irish 

taxpayers and of Irish Aid. 
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